Promoting Research through Improved Online Collaboration Software



An Interactive Qualifying Project Report submitted to the faculty of Worcester Polytechnic Institute in partial fulfillment for the degree of Bachelor of Science

Sponsoring Agency: International Financial Laboratory, Financial University under the Government of the Russian Federation
Submitted to:
On-Site Liaison: Alexander Didenko, Dean of "International Economic Relations" faculty at Financial University under the Government of the Russian
Federation
Project Advisor: Oleg Pavlov, WPI Professor
Project Co-advisor: Creighton Peet, WPI Professor

Submitted by:

Elijah Gonzalez

Qiaoyu Liao

Nicholas Wong

Date: 15 October 2015

This report represents the work of three WPI undergraduate students submitted to the faculty as evidence of completion of a degree requirement. WPI routinely publishes these reports on its web site without editorial or peer review.

Abstract

The purpose of this project was to create an online platform to facilitate and promote research collaboration among faculty and students at the Financial University in Moscow. We gathered data on this problem through holding interviews and focus groups. Using this data we decided which online research collaboration tool would work best for the university, and we developed a prototype SharePoint website that delivers the features we determined to be most essential for successful online research collaboration.

Acknowledgements

Our team would like to express our appreciation to the following individuals for their contribution to the success of this project.

Financial University under the Government of the Russian Federation:

Professor Alexander Didenko, Dean of "International Economics Relation" of Financial University and

Project Liaison

Inna Lukashenko, Head of International Financial Laboratory of Financial University

Vladimir I. Soloviev, IT Director of Financial University

Students of Financial University, especially:

Vladislav Sekriyeru

Stas Chekirov

Nastya Palchikova

Daniella Arctor

Worcester Polytechnic Institute:

Professor Oleg V. Pavlov, Project Advisor

Professor R. Creighton Peet, Project Co-Advisor

Professor Svetlana Nikitina, Moscow Project Center Director

Students of Worcester Polytechnic Institute, especially:

Dylan Baranik

Junxiu Han

Josh Hebert

Ying Lu

Christopher Navarro

Justin Vitiello

Authorship

This project was written by the WPI students Elijah Gonzalez (EG), Qiaoyu Liao (QL)

and Nicholas Wong (NW), with feedback from faculty advisors Oleg V. Pavlov and R.

Creighton Peet, and sponsor Alexander Didenko. The three WPI students contributed equally to

each section of the report, with multiple revisions performed by each member. Additionally, the

appendices were compiled with help from WPI students Dylan Baranik, Junxiu Han, Josh

Hebert, Ying Lu, Christopher Navarro, and Justin Vitiello. The following table indicates which

team members were primarily responsible for drafting the corresponding section.

Section	Author
Title Page	Nicholas Wong
Abstract	Qiaoyu Liao
Acknowledgements	Qiaoyu Liao
Authorship	Qiaoyu Liao
Table of Contents	Qiaoyu Liao
Table of Figures	Qiaoyu Liao
Table of Tables	Qiaoyu Liao
Executive Summary	Nicholas Wong
1.0 Introduction	Nicholas Wong
2.0 Background	Elijah Gonzalez
2.1 Online Collaboration Software	Elijah Gonzalez
2.2 Online Communication	Elijah Gonzalez
2.3 User Interface	Elijah Gonzalez
2.4 Reproducible Research	Elijah Gonzalez
2.5 Research and Collaboration Culture in Russia	Elijah Gonzalez
2.6 Project Background Summary	Elijah Gonzalez
3.0 Methodology	Qiaoyu Liao
3.1 Determine the effectiveness of FinLab Wiki	Nicholas Wong
3.2 Identify the most desired features	Qiaoyu Liao
3.3 Determine the most ideal online research collaboration platform	Elijah Gonzalez
4.0 Results and Analysis	Elijah Gonzalez
4.1 Effectiveness of FinLab Wiki	Nicholas Wong
4.2 Current status of research collaboration at Financial University	Elijah Gonzalez
4.3 Potential features of the collaboration platform	Elijah Gonzalez
4.4 Determine the best platform for research collaboration at	Nicholas Wong
Financial University	

4.5 Implementation of the Platform	Elijah Gonzalez
5.0 Conclusions and Recommendations	Elijah Gonzalez
5.1 Conclusions	Elijah Gonzalez
5.2 Recommendations	Elijah Gonzalez
References	Nicholas Wong
Appendix A-E	Nicholas Wong
Appendix F-G	Qiaoyu Liao
Appendix H-I	Elijah Gonzalez
Appendix J-N	Qiaoyu Liao
Appendix O	Nicholas Wong
Appendix P	Qiaoyu Liao

Table of Contents

Abstracti	i
Acknowledgementsii	i
Authorshipiv	/
Table of Contentsv	ï
Table of Figures	i
Table of Tablesiz	۲
Executive Summary	۲
1. Introduction	1
2. Background	3
2.1 Online Collaboration Software	3
2.2 Online Communication	5
2.3 User Interface	7
2.4 Reproducible Research	3
2.5 Research and Publication Culture in Russia10)
2.6 Project Background Summary1	1
3. Methodology13	3
3.1 Determine the effectiveness of FinLab Wiki13	3
3.2 Identify the most desired features14	1
3.3 Determine the most ideal online research collaboration platform	5
4. Results and Analysis17	7
4.1 Effectiveness of FinLab Wiki17	7
4.2 Current status of research collaboration at Financial University	1
4.2.1 Finding Research Partners2	1
4.2.2 Software and methods used for collaboration22	2
4.2.3 Factors that prevent or hinder research23	3
4.2.4 Current status of reproducible research25	5
4.3 Potential features of the collaboration platform28	5
4.3.1 Communication functionality	3
4.3.2 Networking functionality	3
4.3.3 File sharing27	7

4.3.4 Task Management27
4.3.5 Reproducible research
4.4 Determine the best platform for research collaboration at Financial University28
4.5 Implementation of the platform35
5. Conclusions and Recommendations
5.1 Conclusions
5.2 Recommendations
5.2.1 Platform recommendation40
5.2.2 Collaboration tool features and implementation41
References
Appendix A: About Financial University47
Appendix B: FinLab Wiki In-Depth Analysis49
Appendix C: Focus Group Protocol
Appendix D: Focus Group Notes with Sociology undergraduate students
Appendix E: Focus Group Notes with Master students
Appendix F: Focus Group Notes with Professors
Appendix G: Focus Group Notes with International Economics Relation undergraduate students
Appendix H: Focus Group Notes with International Economics Relation undergraduate students
Appendix I: Focus Group Notes with International Finance Faculty undergraduate students82
Appendix J: Sponsor Interview Protocol
Appendix K: Sponsor Interview Notes
Appendix L: IT Director Interview Protocol91
Appendix M: IT Director Interview Notes
Appendix N: Survey Protocol
Appendix O: Professor Charles Wallace Interview Protocol102
Appendix P: Professor Charles Wallace Interview Notes103

Table of Figures

Figure 1: Example of SharePoint features	5
Figure 2: Example of an efficient pull down menu	8
Figure 3: Example of RStudio interface	10
Figure 4: Flowchart showing FinLab Wiki's website structure	18
Figure 5: Warning shown to users when editing a page	21
Figure 6: Yammer's instant messaging	30
Figure 7: Yammer's group creation feature	31
Figure 8: SharePoint's discussion board feature	32
Figure 9: Microsoft Word Online	33
Figure 10: SharePoint's task timeline feature	34
Figure 11: The homepage for our SharePoint site	37
Figure 12: Financial University organizational structure	48
Figure 13: Flowchart showing FinLab Wiki's website structure	50
Figure 14: "Main Page" tab	52
Figure 15: Introductory Paragraph	52
Figure 16: "Main Page" tab - Tickets	53
Figure 17: "My Userpage" tab	53
Figure 18: List of keywords	54
Figure 19: Existing category summary for the Data Envelopment Analysis keyword	55
Figure 20: Contents summary for Data Envelopment Analysis category	55
Figure 21: Creating a new category for the Data analysis keyword	56
Figure 22: Creating a new category for the Data analysis keyword – closer view	56
Figure 23: "Guide" tab	58
Figure 24: "Create New Ticket" tab	58
Figure 25: Cheat sheet on formatting information	59
Figure 26: US Football Player's Salaries ticket summary page	60
Figure 27: Warning shown to users when editing a page	61

Table of Tables

Table 1: List of problems associated with FinLab Wiki	20
Table 2: Tools currently being used at FU	22
Table 3: Comparison of FinLab Wiki with SharePoint	29
Table 4: List of problems and recommendations associated with FinLab Wiki	49

Executive Summary

Communication and collaboration software can provide tools for researchers from all across the world to collaborate with one another. However, even though the technology exists to enable successful research, some researchers either improperly utilize these tools or choose to work without them. The Financial University under the Government of the Russian Federation (FU) has had some difficulty incorporating the use of their newest knowledge and research management software, FinLab Wiki, and as a result the university has struggled with promoting and enabling more frequent and more effective research. In this report we provide some solutions to this problem.

The goal of this project was to determine how to improve Financial University's knowledge and research management software so that the researchers at Financial University's many campuses could collaborate on their research more effectively and efficiently. Our research objectives to achieve this goal were:

- 1. Determine the effectiveness of the current collaboration tool, FinLab Wiki
- 2. Identify the most desired features for enabling online research collaboration
- 3. Determine which online research collaboration platform to use as the basis for an effective tool for Financial University researchers.

Financial University is a federal government-funded institution of higher education headquartered in Moscow made up of a wide regional network of branches dispersed throughout different parts of Russia (Moveonnet, 2015). Financial University encourages its students and faculty to perform research and submit work for publication as a means to contribute to the scientific discussions in many fields. Through conducting research and publishing papers, the university's researchers can contribute to increasing the prestige of the university. Online research collaboration can be used as a tool to increase research productivity and streamline the collaborative process. In order to analyze research at FU we divided online research collaboration into five topics: online research collaboration software, online communication, user interface, reproducible research, and research collaboration culture in Russia. Our sponsor was particularly interested in supporting reproducible research, which is an approach to research where researchers provide all of their algorithms and all of their data to help legitimize their findings and enable other researchers to continue with this research or attempt to replicate it.

To achieve our objectives we used two main methods of data collection: interviews and focus groups. We hosted two interviews with faculty members and carried out six focus groups with students and faculty, which were divided according to the demographic characteristics of the participants.

We found that Financial University's current research collaboration software, FinLab Wiki, was rarely used due to a multitude of problems. According to its users, FinLab Wiki's biggest flaw is its lack of privacy control. Other problems with FinLab Wiki that were mentioned in our focus groups include it being slow and not fully customizable, having an unfriendly user interface, lacking active users, suffering from numerous errors, and the absence of private messaging capabilities.

General problems that have prevented or hindered research include the difficulty of finding other researchers with whom to collaborate, a preference for writing shorter and less indepth research papers than those published in peer-reviewed journals, and the cost of publishing papers. Researchers also stated that a lack of time, interest, skill, incentives and motivation prevented them from conducting research. Although our sponsor stressed the importance of

xi

implementing reproducible research as a means to make the university's research scalable and more legitimate, very few students were aware of the concept.

Our focus groups and research indicated that the most important features for an online collaboration tool at Financial University are communication functionality, networking features, file sharing, task management, and reproducible research. Additionally, the most important attributes for online research collaboration tools are having privacy features, being user-friendly, flexible, easy to access and open-source.

Based on the importance of these features and attributes, we have concluded that although FinLab Wiki was a good starting point for research collaboration at FU, it still needs a great deal of improvements before it can become a useful platform. SharePoint, Microsoft's online collaboration platform, has better or equal functionality for all of the previously defined features, except for its lack of open-source functionality. SharePoint can easily integrate communication and networking functionality through Yammer, the enterprise social networking platform. SharePoint's discussion board functionality also supports the platform's ability to facilitate communication by allowing researchers to carry out in depth conversations. SharePoint offers file management features, and through its support of Microsoft Word Online, multiple users can edit the same document at the same time. Through SharePoint's file sharing methods, researchers can easily share their data and computations, putting the principles of reproducible research into practice. Task management features are supported as well, allowing users to visualize task due dates and assignments.

We recommend that Financial University's IT department creates a main SharePoint website based on the SharePoint prototype that we developed. SharePoint sub-sites should then be created by the IT department for specific research groups when requested, to ensure that

xii

researchers are able to keep their work private if so desired. These websites should all implement the previously defined features to ensure that researchers have all of the tools they need to carry out successful research collaboration.

Through analyzing the current status of research collaboration at Financial University, we have provided the university with a better understanding of what users want in a knowledge and research management software. Additionally, our recommendations outline how Financial University should use SharePoint to implement our findings.

1. Introduction

It is a natural tendency for individuals to seek a means of collaborating and communicating with each other for the purpose of creating better content. While face-to-face collaboration is relatively easy, maintaining contact with teams over the internet is quite difficult. For example, communicating within Russia, a country with eleven different time zones, is in and of itself a daunting task, especially when researchers in different time zones need to collaborate with one another for their research. Through the rise of many different online collaboration tools and technologies, online research collaboration has become an excellent complement to face-toface research collaboration.

The Financial University (FU) under the Government of the Russian Federation is a federal state-funded institution of higher education headquartered in Moscow. It has a wide regional network of branches dispersed throughout different parts of Russia (Moveonnet, 2015). The different branches of the university have had difficulties collaborating on research due to the large distance between many of these branches (Baumann, Farrar, and Gray, 2014). One of Financial University's goals is to connect researchers online, creating a social environment that would allow researchers to share and store knowledge for future research. Ideally this solution would also allow researchers to easily manage group-based research, such as multi-regional research teams from different parts of Russia. Providing a means of online collaboration for these researchers would allow future researchers to utilize completed research results in new projects, but so far this has not been possible.

Online research collaboration is not a new concept. Tools such as GitHub, Google Docs, and Canvas are already in use outside of Financial University (Charles Wallace, personal

1

communication, April 10, 2015; full interview in Appendix P). Task management, online communication, graphical user interface, and reproducible research are among the important research collaboration features that could improve the effectiveness of collaboration. While many options currently exist for Financial University, the International Financial Laboratory (FinLab) operating under the International Finance Faculty (IFF) of Financial University decided to implement their own research collaboration tool. Professor Alexander Didenko, then Director of FinLab, made the decision to invest in FinLab Wiki, a website built in 2014 using MediaWiki as its framework (Baumann, Farrar, and Gray, 2014).

FinLab Wiki is still in the early stages of development and several recommendations for the improvement of the website have been made (Baumann, Farrar, and Gray, 2014). While the website is fairly new and little feedback has been gathered on its effectiveness, the current consensus is that FinLab Wiki has not lived up to expectations, and FU should move forward and consider other methods for improving collaboration.

The purpose of this project was to identify the best ways to promote online research collaboration among FU researchers. We achieved this goal through the use of online database research, focus groups, and interviews. We evaluated the effectiveness of the current online research collaboration tool used by FU, FinLab Wiki. We determined which features were the most essential for an online research collaboration tool, and with this information we decided upon the best collaboration platform for facilitating these features. Lastly, we designed a prototype on this platform of choice. All in all, our project helped determine the future direction of online research collaboration at Financial University by identifying the tool that should be used as the basis for these efforts.

2

2. Background

Like any institution of higher learning, research projects are an important feature of Financial University (FU) in Moscow, Russia. Through conducting research and publishing papers, the university researchers can contribute to the scientific conversations in many different fields, while also increasing the prestige of FU professors and students. Online research collaboration can be used as a tool to increase research productivity and streamline the collaborative process. In this chapter we will explain the main elements of online research collaboration by dividing the subject into the following five topics:

- Online Research Collaboration Software
- Online Communication
- User Interface
- Reproducible Research
- Research and Publication Culture in Russia

2.1 Online Collaboration Software

Online collaboration is a difficult task that requires certain tools to allow groups to effectively complete their work. Financial University currently uses MediaWiki to handle its collaboration tasks (Baumann, Farrar, and Gray, 2014). MediaWiki is a platform that allows users to create and edit articles, and it is best known for powering Wikipedia, along with 2,000 other wikis (Barrett, 2008).

Although Mediawiki is well suited for larger scale collaboration projects, it has important limitations for smaller scale research collaboration (Barrett, 2008). Being a system meant mostly for public use, it is not the best tool to use when privacy control of a system is necessary. Maintenance gets progressively more difficult as the body of work grows, and the methods of access are not secure, meaning that it is hard to manage permissions and log-in information. MediaWiki also requires users to learn the correct syntax for formatting articles, which means that there is a fairly steep initial learning curve for using the website.

Another commonly used collaboration tool is SharePoint (Behles, 2013). SharePoint enables users to create collaborative sites that allow users to share documents, assign specific tasks, track the due dates of milestones on a shared calendar, and download shared documents (Sagi, 2013). SharePoint features integration with many other Microsoft programs, as it is a part of the productivity platform Microsoft Office 365. This means that it easily connects with many other programs that are useful for collaboration, such as the email service Outlook, and the social networking platform Yammer. Yammer has similar functionality to Facebook, except it is targeted to be used within specific companies or schools, allowing for professionalism to be maintained while still providing all of the convenience of Facebook communication. Additionally, in SharePoint it is easy to edit privacy permissions, making it better suited for large groups of collaborators. Figure 1 shows icons for many of SharePoint's features, illustrating the breadth of its capabilities. SharePoint's plethora of features and the ease with which it can be tailored to specific needs make it an ideal alternative to MediaWiki.



Figure 1: Example of SharePoint features (Warner, 2014, 4Sysops)

2.2 Online Communication

Communication is an essential element of any research collaboration process, but it becomes an even more important factor when researchers are working with each other over the internet (Behles, 2013). For a project to be well-managed and effective, the various researchers working on a project must be able to easily communicate with one another, both so that they can ensure that everyone is working on the correct task, but also so that they can exchange ideas about the research in general.

Online communication is most commonly done through email, instant messaging, and discussion forums (Greener, 2009). Each of these methods has benefits in the context of research

collaboration. The benefit of using email is that it is the standard for professional communication over the internet, and as such it is a widely used option. However, since it is not possible to communicate as quickly as with instant messaging, it has the disadvantage of generally being a slower method of communication. Also, since it exists outside the context of a collaboration platform, it is cannot be directly connected to the software being used for the collaboration. This makes email a good auxiliary communication method, but ideally it would not be the only method of online communication for a research group.

Discussion forums are another method of online communication (Greener, 2009). They are also a somewhat slow method of communication, as people generally don't check forums as much as their email, and they aren't notified of a new message in the same way that instant messaging provides. However, forums are excellent for facilitating long-term discussion centered on specific topics. Forums are built for multiple user discussion, so they would be very useful for online collaboration.

Lastly, there is instant messaging, which is a quick and effective method of communication (Greener, 2009). Instant messaging is such a fast method of communication because when people use instant messaging they have the expectation of a short-term conversation, and as such they tend to keep their messenger open. Instant messaging is another important element of collaboration, because it allows researchers to ask their colleagues questions immediately. Overall it can be said that for research collaboration, emails are a useful auxiliary communication method, forums are useful for long-term discussions, and instant messaging is good for dealing with problems immediately.

6

2.3 User Interface

When designing software it is essential to implement an effective user interface (UI), which acts as the bridge between users and software (Guntupalli, 2008). UI uses visual and audio cues to interact with users and enables them to perform certain commands. It is essential to explicitly consider the needs of the users at every stage of design, a concept known as usercentric development.

UI design can be evaluated by its usability, which is the extent to which users can successfully complete their goals with effectiveness, efficiency and satisfaction (Stone, Jarrett, Woodroffe, & Minocha, 2005). An effective UI will allow the users to complete their objectives, and this is done by offering the proper features. For instance, if users want a software that will allow them to participate in the stock market, the software should enable the users to purchase stocks, sell stocks, browse a company's history, and look at stock prices.

The efficiency of a UI can be measured by how quickly it allows users to complete their goals (Stone, Jarrett, Woodroffe, & Minocha, 2005). This comes down to the grouping of UI elements. For instance, if there are certain functions that the user will constantly be using, they should be easy to access and not nested inside multiple levels of menus. Menus should also be designed to maximize speed as well, and elements must be ordered logically, contain a fairly minimal number of elements, and have objects evenly distributed among different menus. Figure 2 is a good example of a well-designed pull down menu. The menu only has six items, and does not require users to traverse through various sub-menus to find a desired feature. The menu's items are also grouped logically, with "Open" and "Close", and "Save" and "Save As" next to each other.



Figure 2: Example of an efficient pull down menu (Jaksmata, 2008, Wikipedia) User satisfaction is more difficult to define, as this is more dependent on an individual's personal preferences, but there are certain generalizations that can be made. User satisfaction largely comes from including the most commonly desired features and allowing users to use those features quickly (Wilson, 2010). However, user satisfaction also relates to user expectations and aesthetics. It is important to take into account what the user is likely familiar with when designing an interface, as people might become confused if their expectations are not met. For instance, tab manipulation buttons should be placed in the upper right corner of the screen, as it is the common convention to place the close, minimize, or maximize buttons here. The aesthetics of an interface can significantly impact the user's satisfaction, because the visuals affect how the user thinks about the interface. Usability and user centered design should be at the forefront of all decisions made regarding UI, as the only way to properly design an interface is to consider who will be using it.

2.4 Reproducible Research

Another important aspect of research collaboration is ensuring that the results of research are reproducible. Reproducible research can be summarized as an approach to research where researchers provide all of their algorithms, and all of their data that they used when they created their research paper. For instance, if a researcher writes a paper about how Wall Street trends indicate that oil prices will go up, then they must include all of the numbers and computations that they performed to arrive at this conclusion. This allows for others to easily reproduce their results using the same techniques, while also making it harder to skew results (Yale Roundtable, 2010).

This is particularly useful in the context of university research, as it would allow for researchers to easily carry on a student's or professor's work if they were to graduate or leave the university for any other reason. Reproducible research is also well suited for Financial University, as the principle readily applies to research in economics and finance.

An excellent example of reproducibility in action is the Open Science Framework's Psychology Reproducibility Project, in which 270 collaborators recreated 100 psychological studies from prominent psychology journals (Cahoon & Kidwell, 2015). The project's 270 collaborators used wikis to document the process. Version control systems were used to maintain each report's file history, allowing the researchers to easily find the latest draft of their work.

RStudio, a software that is based on the statistical computing language R, could easily be used in tandem with the principles of reproducible research, allowing researchers to share their algorithms and data with one another. RStudio allows users to easily perform complex computations, and has built in functionality to display data visually. Figure 3 below shows an example of RStudio's graphing functionality.



Figure 3: Example of RStudio interface (RStudio, 2011, RStudio Blog)

2.5 Research and Publication Culture in Russia

One challenge associated with research collaboration in Russia is identifying how standards differ between Western and Russian research publications. In the US, it is expected that a research paper will have extensive peer review, and that there will be multiple iterations of editing before a paper is published (Hewlett, 2002). Generally researchers will get their work peer reviewed by two or three colleagues, whom they know, before it is submitted to a journal or publisher. After this, researchers will submit their papers or larger works to official publishers and journals, and the majority of the time their first submission will not be accepted, as only 5-10% of papers are accepted on their first attempt. If the paper is marked as "Accept and revise" or as "Revise and re-submit", then the next step will be to make revisions and resubmit, or submit to an entirely new journal all together. In Russia, the process for submitting papers is not always this multi-layered. In many cases, getting a paper published is as simple as paying a journal to do so (Anderson, 2012). In Russia, peer-review and multiple stages of editing are less common and largely unnecessary for getting published in Russian publications. This, combined with the Russian Ministry of Education and Science's initiative to reward research productivity with salary increases, promotions, and extended contracts, have created an environment in which publishing reports quickly is not only possible, but it is rewarded. Because peer-review is far less common in Russia, and because generating a larger number of reports is rewarded more than creating thorough papers, Russian researchers find it exceedingly difficult to get published in foreign journals, which are looking for longer, more carefully revised papers.

Our sponsor, Professor Alexander Didenko, further confirmed this trend by describing Russian research as generally being more of a "report-oriented" culture, as opposed to a "publication-oriented" culture (Alexander Didenko, personal communication, September 21, 2015; full interview can be viewed in Appendix K). The distinction means that in Russia, shorter, less iterated upon papers are released as Russian publications. These papers are frequently a report on a particular researcher's opinions on a matter, as opposed to an extensively researched paper.

2.6 Project Background Summary

Any endeavor in online collaboration must consider the issues of online communication, software selection, and user interface design to be successful, and this is no different for Financial University. Financial University is a higher education institution, with branches throughout Russia's eleven time zones, and as such its researchers have a daunting task to coordinate research efforts among students and professors across these multiple campuses. The

11

university has begun to utilize online collaboration tools for the purpose of bolstering online research collaboration, their current software is far from being fully functional.

Financial University's current collaboration tool, known as FinLab Wiki, is meant to offer a centralized location for Financial University's researchers to work towards common goals, but it is not regularly being used by Financial University researchers. Financial University's online collaboration tool must be designed with Russian research culture in mind, and it should contain communication tools, an effective user interface, and reproducible research features. Difficulties in communication can easily arise when collaborating over the internet, so more extensive methods for messaging should be explored. The user interface should be designed to ensure that it is intuitive and satisfactory to its users. By stressing the importance of reproducible research, researchers' work will be easy to understand, and their results will be easy to recreate and build upon. In the next chapter we will explain how we carried out our research to find solutions to these challenges.

3. Methodology

The goal of our project was to determine how to improve research collaboration among researchers at Financial University through improving their online collaboration tools. We established the following objectives to achieve the goal of this project:

- 1. Determine the effectiveness of the current collaboration tool, FinLab Wiki
- 2. Identify the most desired features for online research collaboration
- 3. Determine which online research collaboration platform to use as a basis for a prototype tool for FU

We designed three different methods of data collection to achieve these objectives: interviews, focus groups, and a survey.

3.1 Determine the effectiveness of FinLab Wiki

Our first objective was to measure the effectiveness of FinLab Wiki by analyzing the website through creating flowcharts, and by asking FinLab Wiki users their opinions of the website.

We performed an in-depth analysis of FinLab Wiki to measure its usability and functionality by creating a flowchart of the website's structure. This flowchart shows the various paths a user can take to reach different areas of the site. Flowcharts are a useful tool for measuring a site's usability as they show how many links it takes to reach commonly accessed areas of a site. This makes it fairly easy to determine a site's efficiency, as if it takes many clicks to reach the most desired pages on a site, or if it is unclear how to reach a desired area of the page, then the site is inefficient.

We hosted six focus groups, each divided based on demographic, during our time at Financial University. We hosted three separate groups of undergraduate students consisting of five sociology students, three international economic relations students and six international finance faculty students. Additionally, we hosted one group of six graduate students, one group of two professors, and one group of six active researcher.

In our focus groups we talked with researchers who had previous experience with FinLab Wiki, and we asked them several questions about their experiences with FinLab Wiki. We inquired about how often they used it, what they liked and disliked about it, and what they recommended for changes (Focus group protocol can be found in Appendix C).

We also interviewed our sponsor, Professor Alexander Didenko, to gain insight into how people have been using FinLab Wiki, how often it has been used, what his opinion of it was, and how he thought it could be improved. This interview was conducted in a semi-structured fashion, which allowed us to expand upon our original interview protocol when presented with the opportunity for gaining more information. Lastly, we interviewed the university's IT director, Vladimir Soloviev, and during this interview we asked his opinion of FinLab Wiki, as well as possible alternative software programs that the university has access to that could serve the same purpose.

3.2 Identify the most desired features

Before we could develop a new collaboration tool, it was essential to fully identify which features were needed to entice FU researchers to use it. In our focus groups we asked the participants what features researchers believed were necessary for a research collaboration tool (See Appendix D-I).

We asked the participants in the focus group to explain why they believed these features were important, and we recorded their responses. We combined these responses with the results of our preliminary research on features that are essential for online research collaboration. Additionally, we determined how to incorporate the principles of reproducible research into a collaboration tool through our interviews and by searching through online databases. We also asked our focus group participants about their level of knowledge of reproducible research to help us establish how to include reproducible research into the collaboration platform.

Although we had designed a survey to be distributed as a means to obtain quantitative data regarding which features were most favored by Financial University researchers, due to problems with distributing the survey, the results we received were deemed were unusable (Survey can be found in Appendix N).

3.3 Determine the most ideal online research collaboration platform

To determine which online research collaboration platform to use for creating a prototype research collaboration tool, we compared the features of FinLab Wiki and SharePoint, the most logical alternative to FinLab Wiki. Using the list of important features that we had previously identified from users, we created a chart that compared the amount of functionality each of the platforms had with respect to each of the features. The platform deemed to have more functionality for each feature earned a point, and in the case of a tie, both platforms received a point. A total tally of points was taken for each platform.

We also took into account our analysis of the effectiveness of FinLab Wiki, explained in section 3.1, and by analyzing the results of this data we came closer to concluding which platform should be used at FU. Finally, we took into consideration the Financial University IT director's opinion on SharePoint compared to FinLab Wiki, as he understood how both platforms would integrate with Financial University systems.

To demonstrate the features and platform that would best suit a research collaboration tool for Financial University, we created a prototype version of the platform. This prototype was not meant to be a complete implementation of the collaboration, but simply an example of what a possible implementation could be, and could serve as a summary of our recommendations. To create this prototype we merely used the platform's add-ons. The results of our research are presented in the next chapter.

4. Results and Analysis

In this chapter, we present and analyze the relevant information gathered during our research at Financial University in order to achieve our goal of determining how to improve the effectiveness and efficiency of Financial University's knowledge and research management software. We have organized our findings and analysis into five categories: the effectiveness of FinLab Wiki, the current research practices of Financial University, the features needed for research collaboration, the platform that should be used to facilitate collaboration, and implementation of the platform.

4.1 Effectiveness of FinLab Wiki

FinLab Wiki's website design is relatively straightforward. Figure 4 shows a simple flowchart of the website's design; there are four main categories (hereby referred to as tabs) that dictate the structure of the website. Users start at the "Main Page" tab and from this tab they can traverse to the "Create a Ticket" tab, the "Guide" tab, and the "My Userpage" tab. All tabs eventually lead to either the "Ticket Summary" section or the "Existing Category" section.



Figure 4: Flowchart showing FinLab Wiki's website structure. The website's functionality revolves around two terms: tickets and keywords. On the website, tickets are the fundamental statement of a problem (Baumann, Farrar, Gray, 2015).

Every ticket contains a description of the research problem and links to related tickets and relevant research. A keyword is a word or phrase that describes a topic of research. Users can find related tickets and other users with similar interests by searching the wiki with a keyword search.

In 2014 our sponsor, Professor Alexander Didenko, supervised the WPI IQP team that created Financial University's first research collaboration tool, FinLab Wiki (Baumann, Farrar, Gray, 2015). His original intentions with FinLab Wiki were to increase cooperation among researchers at FU and to provide a platform where researchers could share their research results and build upon each other's findings (Alexander Didenko, personal communication, September 21, 2015; full interview can be viewed in Appendix K). Our sponsor said he believes that FinLab Wiki met the goal he set for the creators of FinLab Wiki, but further improvement could be made to the website. However, director of the Information Technology Department at FU, Vladimir Soloviev (personal communication, September 24, 2015; full interview can be viewed in Appendix M), had a somewhat different opinion on FinLab WIki, saying that its potential is limited due to being slow and not fully customizable.

Most undergraduate and graduate students said they had no idea what FinLab Wiki was, while some graduate students said they had stopped using FinLab Wiki for various reasons (see Appendices E & I). These include problems with inserting citations and links, errors during file uploads, a lack of privacy and messaging capabilities on the website, and a difficulty navigating the site due to its user interface.

Table 1 shows a list of problems associated with FinLab Wiki (see Appendix B: FinLab Wiki Analysis, for more information on how this table was created).

Problems	Problems (Continued)
Lack of privacy within the website – anyone can edit, alter, or remove all contributions made to FinLab Wiki.	Errors while uploading files and inserting citations/links – Unable to load some files and hyperlinks
Unwillingness to share work/upload publications – Since all users can anonymously edit, alter, or remove contributions made to the website, users prefer to work alone and prefer not to publish their work on the website.	Lack of private messaging feature – Cannot privately message or send files to individual users on the website.
Slow - Website is not optimized, so users experience delays while traversing the website	User interface is too complicated – Most users are not programmers, but FinLab Wiki requires users to have basic knowledge of PHP programming language or a lightweight wiki markup language to be able to contribute.
Not fully customizable – limited by MediaWiki framework, and requires programmers proficient in PHP programming language to customize it.	Few active users - MediaWiki sites require regular participation from users to make full use of collaboration.

Table 1: List of problems associated with FinLab Wiki

The biggest flaw with FinLab Wiki is the lack of privacy within the website. When first accessing the website, users are taken to a security page and prompted to log-in. Users cannot access other pages without logging in, providing the website with some privacy. However, once users get past this security feature, they are given full access to all pages on the website. This proves to be problematic as all users are able to edit, alter, or remove any contributions made to the website (Figure 5 shows the warning displayed to users attempting to edit a page). With the fear of having their work altered, stolen, or deleted on a whim, most FinLab Wiki users have stopped using the website.

Summary:				
□ This is a minor edit Watch this page				
Please note that all contributions to FA_WIKI may be edited, altered, or removed by other contributors. If you do				
not want your writing to be edited mercilessly, then do not submit it here.				
You are also promising us that you wrote this yourself, or copied it from a public domain or similar free resource				
(see FA WIKI:Copyrights for details). Do not submit copyrighted work without permission!				
Save page	Show preview	Show changes	Cancel Editing help (opens in n	new window)

Figure 5: Warning shown to users when editing a page, highlighted in red.

4.2 Current status of research collaboration at Financial University

To better understand what was necessary for FU's research collaboration tool we first studied how collaboration at Financial University had previously been handled. We gathered data on the institution's research collaboration techniques through various focus groups and interviews.

4.2.1 Finding Research Partners

It goes without saying that for research collaboration to be successful within an organization, there needs to be an effective process for researchers to find team members. As of right now, Financial University lacks a standardized process for assisting researchers in finding other researchers (see Appendices D, E, G, H, and I). Due to this, students and professors will almost always work with their friends and acquaintances, or by themselves. While this can still lead to successful research, it would be far better if researchers at Financial University took advantage of the institution's large body of students and professors.

In regards to research projects that are given to students through the school, teachers will either delegate students to work with one another or professors will send out offers for projects and students will volunteer if interested. Although networking tools such as Facebook or VK (the Russian equivalent of Facebook), email, and forums can be used to find research partners, these tools are not specifically designed to network people for research purposes, and as such, it is likely that researchers will only use them to communicate with people they already know. It is clear that researchers at Financial University need some means to meet new people with the desired skills for a particular research project.

4.2.2 Software and methods used for collaboration

Before we began to design a tool for research collaboration, we had to identify tools and techniques that were being used at Financial University. Table 2 summarizes our findings.

	Professors and Major researchers	Master Students	Undergraduate Students
Google Drive	1	1	
Dropbox	1	1	1
Email	✓	1	1
Face-to-face	\checkmark	1	1
Facebook		1	1
Phone	✓	1	1
Skype	✓	1	
Google Translate			1
Github		1	

Table 2: Tools currently being used at FU

Overall, researchers at Financial University favor easy to use tools that allow them to immediately begin their work. Google Drive is commonly used, and the frequency of its use can be attributed to its simplicity and effectiveness (see Appendices E & F). Researchers appreciated the convenience that Google Docs provides by allowing multiple people to edit the same document at the same time. Alternatively, Dropbox has been used by many researchers as a means for storing files. Not surprisingly, email was used very frequently as well, both for communication and for sending files, but there were complaints about the inconvenience of sending the same document back and forth, and it could easily become confusing as to which version of the document was the most recent.

Despite the frequent use of these tools, most researchers preferred face-to-face communication as their primary means of collaborating (see Appendices D, G, and H). This was partially due the difficulty of balancing many different software programs, but also because there is a perception that face-to-face meetings are the best method for quickly communicating and delegating work. Delegation was a major component of collaboration for the FU researchers, because most students and faculty said it was rare for all of the researchers on a project to be available at the same time. It is important to consider that although our collaboration tool will help facilitate research collaboration, it will most likely be used as a complement to face-to-face communication.

4.2.3 Factors that prevent or hinder research

One of the most notable factors that we observed regarding research collaboration at Financial University was the large number of problems that researchers encountered, and the consistency of these problems. Undergraduate students mostly cited a lack of time, interest, and skill as reasons for why they did not conduct research. Since writing research papers is not required for undergraduate students until their final year, and because professors do not always teach research methods, many students wait until later in their academic careers to begin doing research (see Appendix D). Another commonly mentioned hindrance was the cost of publishing, which was particularly detrimental for students, who lack the same financial resources as the professors and dedicated researchers. Although the graduate students were far more involved in

23
research than their undergraduate counterparts, they still cited a lack of incentives as a reason for not conducting research. One complaint was that research does not generally help with getting a job after graduation, and that only those who plan on working at the university or for the government truly benefited from writing papers and getting published. Professors at the university also admitted that supervisors, who are professors that oversee student research projects, need to do a better job at motivating students.

One of the most consistently mentioned barriers for conducting research is the difficulty researchers have in finding other researchers with whom to collaborate. Many researchers said that although working with others could be beneficial, they rarely would work with people outside of their friend groups because there is no established method for how to connect with other members of the university (see Appendices D, G, and H). Researchers also frequently choose to work by themselves because they believe that it is more efficient, and because coordinating among multiple researchers is a waste of their time.

Our focus group with professors, dedicated researchers, and Masters students also reinforced information about a larger societal problem regarding research and publishing in Russia, that being a preference for shorter and less in-depth research papers (see Appendices E, F, and I). We were informed that for dedicated researchers at Financial University, they are expected to publish more than four papers every year (see Appendix I). While this expectation may not seem detrimental by itself, many journals in Russia will publish any research paper regardless of content and quality if they are paid to do so. This means that instead of being encouraged to create longer and more detailed papers, researchers are instead incentivized to write many short papers. Instead of the quality of their work being the primary concern, quantity is the primary concern. This becomes a problem when researchers try to publish in foreign

24

journals, as Western standards for publishing generally require longer papers that have been extensively peer-reviewed.

4.2.4 Current status of reproducible research

The concept of reproducible research is still not a widely accepted standard for all research, and as such it was important to gauge the university researchers' awareness of this approach to research. Although none of the undergraduate students were familiar with reproducible research, the Masters students were somewhat aware of it, and professors were rather familiar with it (see Appendices D, E, F, G, H, I). Many of the Masters students had used reproducible research in some form already, and the university's professors saw it as an opportunity for students to easily continue research that had been started by a student who had graduated. One of the greatest difficulties surrounding reproducible research is that the university has lacked a system or platform to help researchers carry out and store reproducible research, making it difficult to share algorithms and data. Some researchers also felt that the idea of reproducible research could only work effectively in the context of math-based research papers, such as in the fields of economics, statistics, or perhaps even in the context of natural science.

4.3 Potential features of the collaboration platform

Through our focus groups and interviews we established some of the basic functionality that would be most important for online collaboration at Financial University. These features are as follows: communication functionality, networking functionality, file sharing, and task management. Additionally, it was a key request from our sponsor to enable reproducible research as a feature for the collaboration tool.

4.3.1 Communication functionality

Although there are many pre-existing methods of communicating over the internet, a key complaint that students had about using Facebook or VK to communicate was that it was too informal for communicating with professors (see Appendix E). Similarly, older researchers tended to prefer email as a communication method instead of instant messaging. If the new platform had instant messaging functionality, then it is likely that students would find this to be more formal than other instant messaging software, as this instant messaging functionality would be tailored specifically for research. Another method of communication to consider adding to the platform is forums. Forums were mentioned by students as a favored method of communication, as they allow for lengthier conversations among larger groups of people. This is ideal for research collaboration, as it gives a central location for discussing research topics.

4.3.2 Networking functionality

One of the largest hurdles for research collaboration at Financial University has been the lack of an established method for finding partners on projects. Most researchers said that the only time they would seek partners outside of their friends and acquaintances was when they were in need of a researcher who belonged to a different academic field (see Appendices D,E,G,H,I). The difficulty of finding partners would frequently lead to researchers working alone on projects. One method of solving this problem through an online collaboration tool would be to have an easy method to search through the profiles of Financial University's researchers. Members of the university would fill out their information, including their major, their year, their research interests and works they have published. It would be possible to search for these traits in other's profiles, making it easy to find appropriate researchers to work with. These profiles could overcome some of the trust concerns associated with working with strangers by allowing

26

researchers to rate people they had collaborated with. This would add an element of accountability to the researching process, and it would also allow researchers to screen others before partnering with them.

4.3.3 File sharing

We found that researchers use many different methods to share their documents with one another. Although Google Drive was a commonly used tool, Dropbox and email were widely used as well. All three of these were commonly used because of their simplicity; however, a desire for version control was also mentioned among some students. While Google Docs can work for research collaboration, it lacks version control methods that would allow researchers to easily access the previous versions of files. A new platform could offer the ability for multiple people to edit the same document at the same time, like Google Docs, while also offering a way to easily view the previous versions of files. This is a far more effective method of file sharing than sharing files through email.

4.3.4 Task Management

One of the largest complaints that researchers had about online research collaboration was that without face-to-face communication it could quickly become difficult to manage who was in charge of different tasks (see Appendices D, H). One way to compensate for this problem through an online tool is to allow for an easy visual representation of which tasks need to be accomplished, and which group member is performing them. To do this, having a calendar built into the tool would be advantageous. Ideally there would also be the ability to describe the tasks that need to be accomplished, as well as assign a priority level to them.

27

4.3.5 Reproducible research

Reproducible research is an underutilized research technique, but by offering an easy method to share algorithms and data, this beneficial practice would be encouraged. The collaboration tool could offer researchers the ability to attach their algorithms and data along with their papers. For instance, if researchers were using the statistical computing software RStudio to perform their calculations, they could attach their R file with all of their calculations when they publish their paper. Reproducible research partially addresses the Russian problem of publications having less depth in their research, as it ensures that researchers will support their claims with data, increasing the credibility of their results. Also, due to the fact that the purpose of reproducible research is to ensure that results can be reproduced, researchers would be encouraged to continue the work of other researchers, leading to more in-depth papers.

4.4 Determine the best platform for research collaboration at Financial University

To establish which platform is the best for research collaboration at the Financial University we compared the features that FinLab Wiki offers against what SharePoint offers. Table 3 shows a comparison of FinLab Wiki's features and SharePoint's features, with a check mark assigned to either FinLab Wiki or SharePoint depending on which platform provides a better implementation of the mentioned feature. In cases where the functionality is equivalent, both platforms received a check mark.

Features and Attributes	FinLab Wiki	SharePoint
Instant Messaging		1
Forums		1
Networking		1
File Sharing	1	1
Shared Document Editing		1
Task Management		1
Implementing Reproducible Research	1	1
Privacy Control		1
User-Friendly		1
Flexibility		1
Access to Software	1	1
Open-Source	1	
Total	4	11

Table 3: Comparison of FinLab Wiki with SharePoint

SharePoint provides eight of the specified features better than FinLab Wiki and ties with FinLab Wiki on three features, with the only positive attribute of FinLab Wiki being that it is open-source.

SharePoint is better suited for instant messaging because it can easily incorporate chat functionality through the integration with Yammer. Figure 6 shows Yammer's instant messaging functionality, which has a similar design to other social media platforms, making it familiar and easy to use. Although FinLab Wiki can potentially integrate a chat functionality through add-ons, this feature is a third-party add on, and as such is not as polished.



Figure 6: Yammer's instant messaging

Although FinLab Wiki has some networking functionality through keyword categorizing and personal pages, SharePoint has the superior form of this feature due to its easy integration with Yammer. Yammer allows for students and professors to search through the members of the university based on faculty, making it easy to find research partners to work with. Yammer is a closed social media platform that allows for members of an organization to network and communicate with other members of the organization. Financial University already has a Yammer site for the university based on Office 365 login credentials, allowing the entirety of the students and faculty to easily interact with each other. Figure 7 shows Yammer's feature to create and join groups based on field of study.

All Company					_
Suggested Gro	ups				×
*	Marketing			Create Group	Í
	Sales			Create Group	×
	IT Support			Create Group	
K	Design Ideas			Create Group	
		Done	View more groups		

Figure 7: Yammer's group creation feature

SharePoint also has forum functionality in the form of its built-in discussion board feature. This allows for users to open discussion topics and engage in long-term conversations. Figure 8 shows these discussion boards. FinLab Wiki is limited to the WikiForum extension, which suffers from the same problem as other third party FinLab Wiki add-ons, in that it is not part of MediaWiki's core functionality. What is the best method for increasing research collaboration at the Financial University?

0 replies

Elijah Gonzalez Hey guys, I was just wondering what do you believe is the best method for online research collaboration at FU?

A few seconds ago Reply Edit ***

Figure 8: SharePoint's discussion board feature

Shared document editing is a core functionality of SharePoint as well, allowing multiple users to edit the same document at the same time through Microsoft Word Online, functioning similarly to Google Docs. Figure 9 shows that Microsoft Word Online has the exact same layout as Microsoft word, so it would be familiar to the vast majority of users. The Word Online documents are also shared with everyone who has access to a SharePoint site, so users do not need to specifically share their documents with their team members every time a new document is made. FinLab Wiki lacks any sort of shared document editing features.

	Word	Online	<u>IQP Test Site</u>		Document			緝 Share	Elija	h Gonzalez
FILE	HOME	INSERT	PAGE LAYOUT	REVIEW	VIEW Tell me what you want	to do 🛛 🍷	OPEN IN V	VORD		
5 2	Paste	Arial B I <u>U</u> a	$\begin{array}{c} \bullet \\ 11 \\ \bullet \\ \bullet \\ \mathbf{x}_2 \\ \mathbf{x}^2 \\ \mathbf{x}^2$	A A 🖗	E * E * E * M ¶4 = = = = ‡ * +∃*	AaBbCc Normal	AaBbCc No Spacing	AaBbCc Heading 1	₽ ab ¢ac	
Undo	Clipboard		Font		Paragraph		Styles		Editing	*
		funct as w famil funct featu	SharePoint is tionality through rell as instant me lar with other so tionality through tre	s better suit the integral ssaging fur cial media add-ons. th	ed for instant messaging bec tion with Yammer. Eigure 4.4 octionality, which has a famili platforms. Although EinLab y is feature is a third-party add	ause it can e -b shows Ya ar design for Viki can pote I on, and as	asily incorp immer's pag those who i ntially integr such is not a	orate chat le layout, are ate a chat l polished		
				 Contring 	Entron api be speed to differencementation entropy. Take a moment to wetcome Epidi. Like Reply: Date: Mane	Ante to a construction of the second				

Figure 9: Microsoft Word Online

FinLab Wiki and SharePoint both share similar file sharing capabilities in that both tools allow users to upload and download files onto the tool, therefore, neither platform has an advantage over the other in this regard.

SharePoint incorporates a calendar and reminder feature that aids in distributing and managing tasks among users. It also has a task management timeline, which shows when certain tasks are due. Figure 10 shows the task management timeline feature. FinLab Wiki's only task management features are the ability to add users onto projects and the ability to receive updates when a page is edited.

Tasks

	Today
	Октябрь 2015
	Add tasks with dates to the timeline
new task or edit this list	
All Tasks Calendar Completed ···· Find an item 👂	
✓ 🔀 Task Name Due Date Assigned To	
Leave FU 🗱 💀 October 17 🗌 Elijah Gonzalez	

Figure 10: SharePoint's task timeline feature

FinLab Wiki comes with minimal privacy control in that everyone who attempts to access FinLab Wiki requires a login to view the website. In addition, FinLab Wiki pages are editable by everyone who has access to the platform, defeating the purpose of privacy control. On the other hand, administrators for SharePoint have the ability to delegate access to the site. Sub-sites can be created within SharePoint to create privacy within project groups.

As far as being user-friendly, FinLab Wiki is far harder to use than SharePoint. Users must become familiar with the PHP programming language and markdown syntax to be able to edit FinLab Wiki, meaning that only users that have some technical knowledge will be able to use it. SharePoint requires no programming knowledge to use. Although FinLab Wiki can be expanded through the use of PHP programming, this requires a great deal of knowledge and skill to implement. SharePoint is much more flexible as there are numerous downloadable apps that integrate with SharePoint without the need for any programming experience. Users merely need to search through the SharePoint apps store, and download the desired app to add it to their SharePoint site.

Both FinLab Wiki and SharePoint have similar functionality with regard to implementing reproducible research. Users of both tools are able to upload and download RStudio files from

the tool. Outside of this, to fully incorporate RStudio into either FinLab Wiki or SharePoint would require extensive programming knowledge in PHP and C#, respectively, and thus, neither tool is better than the other for implementing this concept.

In terms of the university's level of access to the tools, Financial University has access to both FinLab Wiki and SharePoint, as the former was created specifically for FU, and the IT department at FU has SharePoint access through Microsoft Office 365. As such, both tools require no additional effort to obtain.

FinLab Wiki has only one distinct advantage when compared to SharePoint in terms of features, that being it is an open-source platform. The term open-source refers to whether or not the code base of a program is open to the public. In the context of FinLab Wiki, this means that if a team of experienced programmers were working on the platform, they could extensively customize FinLab Wiki to the university's needs. SharePoint is a Microsoft-owned product, and FU must comply with Microsoft's terms of service, meaning it is not open-source.

By analyzing the effectiveness of FinLab Wiki, researching the current status of research collaboration at Financial University, determining the most important features of research collaboration, and comparing the possible research collaboration platforms, we came to the conclusion that SharePoint is an effective tool for online collaboration at Financial University. It supports better communication tools than FinLab Wiki, better document sharing features, a means to visualize tasks, and is much more usable overall.

4.5 Implementation of the platform

Based on our findings we have established an optimal method for implementation of the research collaboration platform at Financial University. One important element of SharePoint sites is that they enable administrators to create sub-sites within a larger SharePoint site. This

means it would be ideal for Financial University to run a main SharePoint site that would act as a hub for the university, with research groups within the university being given sub-sites for specific projects. Since SharePoint sites can easily be created in a few minutes, we would recommend that Financial University's IT department should create SharePoint sub-sites for students and professors who request them. These sub-sites that the IT department creates should have all of the basic functionality that is important for online collaboration, which we will explain in the next section of this report. Alternatively, since it takes very little technical skill to create a SharePoint sub-site, researchers should be given the ability to create their own sub-sites. In either case, editing permissions for the sub-site should be given to researchers to allow them to further customize their sub-site using the rest of SharePoint's add-on features. These sub-sites allow for a great deal of privacy control as well, because only researchers working within a research project group will have access to the content of their sub-site. We would recommend that each of these sub-sites implements the features we have previously mentioned, those being Yammer support, discussion boards, document editing, task timelines, and calendars. Figure 11 displays our prototype site, which incorporates all of these features.

III Office 365	Sites						
BROWSE PAGE							
S	IQP Test Site FDIT LINKS						
Home	Newsfeed						
Documents	Start a conversation						
Tasks							
Calendar	Nicholas Wong						
Yammer App for SharePoint	Hey guys! Welcome to the IQP FinLab Test Site!						
IQP Forums							
Site Contents							
🖋 EDIT LINKS	SHOW MORE POSTS						
	Documents						
	Or New ↑ Upload ♀ Sync ♥ Share More ♥						
	Document						



Since Financial University has access to Microsoft Office 365, the family of Microsoft products that hosts SharePoint, this means that the university can supply its students and professors with Office 365 accounts. All students at Financial University should be emailed their Office 365 account credentials, and they should all be informed about its usefulness. To ensure that SharePoint is adopted as the university's collaboration platform it is important for professors to recommend its use when assigning research projects. Additionally, when a research project is assigned through the university, the IT department should send all of the researchers working on a project a link to their project's sub-site. Even though it does not take a great deal of time to create these sub-sites, if the IT department is unable to handle this, then researchers should be given the opportunity to create their own sub-site themselves.

5. Conclusions and Recommendations

The purpose of this project was to determine how to improve online research collaboration at the Financial University under the Government of the Russian Federation in Moscow, Russia. In this chapter we will discuss our conclusions and recommendations based on our research results. Our conclusions section is structured according to our research objectives, and our recommendations are separated up into online platform recommendations, and features recommendations.

5.1 Conclusions

Our first objective was to determine the effectiveness of FinLab Wiki, Financial University's previous research tool. We concluded that although FinLab Wiki was a good starting point for research collaboration at FU, it still needs a great deal of improvements before it could become a useful platform. One crippling issue FinLab Wiki suffers from is the depth of technical knowledge it requires from users, as to edit the wiki users must be familiar with PHP or markdown languages. FinLab Wiki's lack of privacy control is detrimental as well, due to the fact that any member of the wiki can edit any other member of the wiki's articles dissuades researchers from using it at all. Lastly, FinLab Wiki lacks many of the features that researchers believe would be useful in such a tool.

Our next objective was to establish which features are most important for an online collaboration tool. The features we identified can be summarized as follows: instant messaging, forums, networking, file sharing, shared document editing, task management, and reproducible research. Communication methods such as instant messaging and forums are an important element of online research collaboration software, as researchers must be able to easily stay in contact with one another. Instant messaging partially solves this problem by offering a quick

38

means to contact others. Forums allow users to have more in depth conversations, which are important in creating a thorough research paper. Networking features are essential because Financial University lacks an effective system for allowing researchers to find partners, leading to most researchers either working alone or only with friends. File sharing and shared document editing are integral to creating papers online because they allow for a group to have a centralized location to edit their work. Task management allows for researchers to clearly outline the tasks that must be completed, state the due date for these tasks, and delegate work. Finally, reproducible research is a concept that bolsters research by encouraging users to share their algorithms and data, legitimizing their results, and allowing for others to expand upon their research.

Our final objective was to decide which research collaboration platform should be used as the basis for Financial University's online research collaboration efforts. FinLab Wiki and SharePoint were the two options we considered. When compared to FinLab Wiki, SharePoint had better or equivalent functionality than FinLab Wiki for every feature or attribute except that it is not open-source. Overall, it was clear that SharePoint has a much better suite of features for online research collaboration and thus is a much better option for a research collaboration platform.

5.2 Recommendations

Our recommendations for Financial University can be broken into two categories: platform recommendation, and collaboration tool features recommendations. The platform recommendation section covers the platform that we think would best fit with Financial University's needs. In the features and implementation section, we discuss the features that we

39

believe are most important for online research collaboration, as well as how they can be integrated into the chosen platform.

5.2.1 Platform recommendation

Based on our analysis presented in Chapter 4 of this report we recommend that SharePoint is implemented as the online platform for research collaboration at Financial University. Although SharePoint is the best option for a collaboration platform at Financial University, it should be mentioned that if Financial University is unable to use SharePoint, there are additional recommendations for improving FinLab Wiki located in Appendix B.

In terms of implementing the platform, we recommend that the university creates a main SharePoint site that all members of the university have access to, and then creates sub-sites that only specific research groups have access to. The university's main SharePoint site should be used to share general information that would be applicable to all researchers at the Financial University, and to facilitate discussion between all of the research community. The SharePoint sub-sites should be created by the university's IT department after research groups request them, but researchers at the university should also have the ability to create their own sub-sites as well.

Additionally, it is essential for the university to endorse the SharePoint platform as the primary means for research collaboration at the university. All members of Financial University should be sent Office 365 accounts so that they can access SharePoint. Additionally, we recommend that the Financial University professors should teach students how to effectively use SharePoint, as well as encourage the usage of SharePoint during the undergraduate student's mandatory research projects.

Lastly, although our focus groups and interviews gave us a great deal of information about the state of research collaboration at the Financial University, we were unable to receive valid results from our survey. We recommend that the university send out this survey to gain additional information about how the SharePoint platform should be implemented (see Appendix N for the survey).

5.2.2 Collaboration tool features and implementation

Financial University should incorporate the following features into their SharePoint platform: instant messaging, forums, networking, file sharing, shared document editing, task management, and reproducible research. If Financial University decides to utilize SharePoint, all of these features should be incorporated into their main SharePoint site, and all of their SharePoint sub-sites.

Instant messaging and communication information should be integrated into the platform. Instant messaging should be implemented into the platform through SharePoint's integration with Yammer, and message board support should be integrated through SharePoint's discussion board feature.

Yammer integration with SharePoint should also be utilized for networking purposes. Professors should encourage their students to fill out their Yammer profiles, and they should explain that Yammer should be used for collaboration at the Financial University instead of other social networking platforms because it is better at connecting researchers to their colleagues.

File management functionality should be implemented through the document library feature, allowing users to upload documents, and use Microsoft Word Online to edit the same documents at the same time. Although users can work separately and upload their files onto SharePoint, we would recommend that Microsoft Word Online is used instead so that all users can have access to the most current versions of files.

Task management functionality should be integrated using SharePoint's task management timeline feature, which allows users to set deadlines and assign members for each tasks. The calendar feature should be included as well, as it is possible that researchers may prefer to visualize their tasks using calendars.

Reproducible research should be incorporated into SharePoint through the file sharing feature, as researchers can include their data and algorithms on the main page of the university's SharePoint site if they are interested in showing that their research is reproducible. Although SharePoint has functionality for reproducible research, the most important factor for increasing reproducible research at Financial University is education about its principles. Requiring students in economics and math related fields to perform at least one research project using reproducible research would also be an effective method to introduce the concept to the university's students and future researchers.

References

- Anderson. (2012). Publishing in a Weak Peer-Review Culture. *The Scholarly Kitchen*. Retrieved from http://scholarlykitchen.sspnet.org/2012/03/20/publishing-in-a-weak-peer-review-culture-russian-academics-and-paid-publication-practices/
- Ayers, P., & Matthews, C. (2008). *How Wikipedia works and how you can be a part of it.* San Francisco: No Starch Press.
- Barrett, D. (2008). MediaWiki. Sebastapool, Calif.: O'Reilly Media.
- Baumann, P. H., Farrar, W.E., & Gray, K.R. (2014). Development of a Wiki to Promote Financial Research Collaboration at the Financial University under the Government of the Russian Federation (Undergraduate Interactive Qualifying Project No.E-project-101514-022252). Retrieved from Worcester Polytechnic Institute Electronic Projects Collection: <u>https://www.wpi.edu/Pubs/E-project/Available/E-project-101514-022252/</u>
- Behles, J. (2013). The Use of Online Collaborative Writing Tools by Technical Communication Practitioners and Students. *Technical Communication*, 60(1), 28-44.
- Carr, D. (2013). *Social Collaboration for Dummies*. Hoboken, NJ: John Wiley & Sons. Retrieved from <u>http://proquest.safaribooksonline.com/book/teamwork/9781118658536/table-of-contents/toc_xhtml</u>
- Cahoon, J., & Kidwell, M. (2015). *Reproducibility Project: Psychology*. Retrieved September 23, 2015 from http://us9.campaignarchive2.com/?u=4ea2d63bcf7c2776e53a62167&id=e874844161&e846f21bc20
- Close, D., & Gardiner, A., Giemsa, F., & Machek, J. (2009). *Patent Law for Computer Scientists.* New York City, NY: Springer Berlin Heidelberg.
- Dogac, A. (1998). Workflow management systems and interoperability. Berlin: Springer.
- Doyle, J. (2015, January 1). The History of Communication Technology. Retrieved April 9, 2015, from http://www.conferencecallsunlimited.com/history-of-communication-technology/
- Ebersbach, A., Glaser, M., Heigl, R., & Warta, A. (2007). *Wiki Web Collaboration* (2nd ed.).Berlin, Germany: Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg. Retrieved from http://link.springer.com/book/10.1007%2F978-3-540-68173-1

- Encyclopedia of the Nations. (2009, January 1). Russia. Retrieved April 9, 2015, from http://www.nationsencyclopedia.com/economies/Europe/Russia.html
- Farkas, M. (2007). Social Software in Libraries: Building Collaboration, Communication, and Community Online. Medford, NJ: Information Today, Inc. Retrieved from http://site.ebrary.com/lib/wpi/detail.action?docID=10502029
- Fendt, J., & Sachs, W. (2008). *Grounded Theory Method in Management Research*. New York, NY: Sage Publications.
- Financial University under the Government of the Russian Federation. (2015a). About the University. Retrieved March 21, 2015, from http://international.fa.ru/about/Pages/default.aspx
- Financial University under the Government of the Russian Federation. (2015b). Faculties. Retrieved March 21, 2015, from <u>http://international.fa.ru/education/Pages/Faculties.aspx</u>
- Financial University under the Government of the Russian Federation. (2015c). Partners. Retrieved March 28, 2015, from <u>http://international.fa.ru/cooperation/Pages/Partners.aspx</u>
- Florin, F. (2012). New Pages Workflow. [Online image]. Retrieved April 21, 2015, from <u>http://upload.wikimedia.org/wikipedia/commons/thumb/5/5c/New-Pages-Workflow-04-30.png/102</u> 4px-New-Pages-Workflow-04-30.png
- Gaaloul, K., Schaad, A., Felegel, U., & Charoy, F. (2008, January 1).
 A Secure Task Delegation Model for Workflows. *Emerging Security Information*, Systems and Technologies, 10-15.
- Gallud, J. A., & Tesoriero, R., & Penichet V. M.R. (2011). *Distributed User Interfaces: Designing Interfaces for the Distributed Ecosystem*. London, UK: Springer-Verlag
- GitHub. (2015). Field-tested tools for any project. Retrieved March 28, 2015, from <u>https://github.com/features</u>
- Greener, S. (2009). Talking online: Reflecting on online communication tools. *Campus-Wide Information Systems*, 26(3), 178-190.
- Guntupalli, R.C.C. (2008). User Interface Design- Methods and Qualities of a Good User Interface Design. (Master's Thesis) Available from University West. Retrieved from http://hv.diva-portal.org/smash/record.jsf?pid=diva2%3A215020&dswid=-6938
- Harr, R., & Wiberg, M. (2008). Lost in translation: investigating the ambiguity of availability cues in an online media space. *Behav. Inf. Technol.*, 27(3), 243-262.

- Hewlett, K. (2002). How to publish your journal paper. *American Psychological Association*, 33(8), 50.
- International Finance Faculty of the Financial University. (2015). About International Financial Laboratory. Retrieved March 21, 2015, from <u>http://www.iff.fa.ru/index.php?q=en/research</u>
- Jaksmata. (2008). Menu (computing) example. [Online Image]. Retrieved on May 21, 2015 from <u>http://commons.wikimedia.org/wiki/File:Menu_(computing)_example.PNG</u>
- Kraut, R., Egido, C., & Galegher, J. (1988). Patterns of contact and communication in scientific research collaboration. Paper presented at the Proceedings of the 1988 ACM conference in New York, NY, on Computer-supported cooperative work.
- McDaniel, D., & McDaniel, R. R. (2004). A field of study of the effect of interpersonal trust on virtual collaborative relationship performance. *MIS Q.*, 28(2), 183-227.
- Microsoft. (2015, January 1). SharePoint overview. Retrieved April 9, 2015, from <u>https://products.office.com/en-us/SharePoint/SharePoint-2013-overview-collaboration-software-features</u>
- Moveonnet. (2015). Financial University under the Government of the Russian Federation. Retrieved March 21, 2015, from <u>http://www.moveonnet.eu/directory/institution?id=RUMOSCOW030</u>
- Ostermiller, S. (2015). CoinMill.com The Currency Converter. Retrieved March 28, 2015, from http://coinmill.com/RUB_USD.html
- Pogenpohl, S., & Sato, K. (2009). *Design Integrations: Research and Collaboration*. Chicago, IL: Intellect Ltd.
- Sheng, W., & Li, W. (2013). Collaboration technologies and applications. Journal of Network and Computer Applications, 36(6), 1403-1404.
- Stone, D., Jarret, C., Woodroffe, M., & Minocha, S. (2005). *User Interface Design and Evaluation*. San Francisco, CA: Morgan Kaufmann Publishers.
- Stroulia, E., & Tansey, B. (2010). *Proceedings of the 1st Workshop on Web 2.0 for* Software Engineering (pp. 31-36). New York, NY: ACM.
- Thompson-Hayes, M., Gibson, D. M., Scott, A. T., & Webb, L. M. (2009). Professorial collaborations via CMC: Interactional dialectics. *Comput. Hum. Behav.*, 25(1), 208-216.

- Trott, B. (1999). BackOffice to Get Collaboration Features. *InfoWorld*, 21(20), 26. Retrieved from <u>http://ezproxy.wpi.edu/login?url=http://search.proquest.com/docview/194359008?accoun</u> <u>tid=29120</u>
- Van Noorden, R. (2014). Online collaboration: Scientist and the social network. *Nature*, 512(7531), 126-129.
- Velos Medical Informatics. (2012, August 1). *Product News Network*. Retrieved from <u>http://go.galegroup.com/ps/i.do?id=GALE%7CA298227751&v=2.1&u=mlin_c_worpoly</u> <u>&it=r&p=ITOF&sw=w&asid=dc9964eb9cca3f2f6e47a54f843e2004</u>
- Watson, R. (1994). Creating and sustaining a global community of scholars. *MIS Q.*, 18(3), 225-231.
- Wikipedia. (2006). Semantic-mediawiki. [Online Image]. Retrieved April 20, 2015, from http://commons.wikimedia.org/wiki/File:Semantic-mediawiki.png
- Wilson, C. (2010). *User experience re-mastered: Your guide to getting the right design*. Burlington, MA: Morgan Kaufmann.
- Worcester Polytechnic Institute. (2015). Interactive Qualifying Project. Retrieved April 19, 2015, from <u>http://www.wpi.edu/academics/igsd/iqp.html</u>
- Yale Roundtable Review. (2010). Reproducible Research. *Computing in Science & Engineering*, 12(5), 8-13.

Appendix A: About Financial University

The goal of the Financial University under the Government of the Russian Federation is to serve as a leading institution of higher learning. The institution's primary goal is to teach students how to become economists, financiers, bankers, and financial lawyers; however, it also has a department for applied mathematics and computer science. The university also has a focus on research, and it aims to generate scientific knowledge in finance, economics, and several related fields, with a special emphasis on quantitative and empirical studies (International Finance Faculty of Financial University (IFFFU), 2015).

The university is a public institution, and it is non-profit (Moveonnet, 2015). Additionally, it is federally funded, and receives income from the enrollment fees of its students (The Financial University under the Government of the Russian Federation [FU], 2015a). As of December 31, 2012, the university became one of the first Russian universities to open a registered endowment foundation worth 215 million Russian Roubles, or about 372,423 US dollars.

Financial University is a massive institution with 19 faculties, 192 chairs, 13 institutes, 2 higher schools, 6 research institutes and centers, 3 educational research laboratories, and 37 university branches throughout Russia. Financial University's organizational structure is shown below in Figure 12. Some of the faculties are accounting and audit, credit and economics, finance and economics, international economic relations, international finance, law, management, tax and taxation, applied mathematics and computer science, public administration and municipal management, risk analysis and economic security, distance education, distance masters training, and open education (FU, 2015b). The academic staff are made up of 2,966 individuals, and there are more than 84,000 students (FU, 2015a). Financial University's

structure is composed of a wide regional network of branches, representative offices, and finance and economics colleges.



Figure 12: Financial University organizational structure

Another asset is the various technologies and software that the Financial University possesses, including the International Financial Laboratory's software. The International Financial Laboratory, headed by Professor Alexander Didenko, hosts research projects led by faculty in collaboration with external researchers and students. The projects range from developing and maintaining research agendas to hosting scientific events, and even includes projects on improving the quality of education and research of the Faculty.

Financial University (2015c) partners itself with 116 other institutions and organizations, some of which include Research Centers, Universities and other Higher Education Information Systems, Insurance Expert and Banker Training Centers, Business Schools, Education Institution and Program Certification and Accreditation Centers, International Examination Centers that issue internationally recognized certificates, banks, insurance companies, audit companies, product manufacturers, and overseas research foundations. By partnering with so many institutions and organizations, Financial University hopes to become involved in financial opportunities all across the world.

Appendix B: FinLab Wiki In-Depth Analysis

Problem	Recommendation
Lack of privacy within the website – anyone can edit, alter, or remove all contributions made to FinLab Wiki.	Implement privacy settings so that users can choose who can alter, edit, or delete their work, all while retaining wiki functionality
Unwillingness to share work/upload publications – Since all users can anonymously edit, alter, or remove contributions made to the website, users prefer to work alone and prefer not to publish their work onto the website.	Give privacy settings to users so they can choose who can edit which pages
Slow - Website is not optimized, so users experience delays while traversing the website	Optimize the website's code
Not fully customizable – limited by MediaWiki framework, and requires programmers proficient in PHP programming language to customize.	Gather proficient PHP programmers or utilize extensions provided by MediaWiki.
Bugs while uploading files and inserting citations/links – Unable to load some files and hyperlinks	Optimize the website's code
Lack of messaging feature – cannot privately message or send files to individual users on the website.	Implement messaging feature
User interface is too complicated – Most users are not programmers, but FinLab Wiki requires users to have basic knowledge of PHP programming language or a lightweight wiki markup language to contribute.	Update guide so that non-programmers can quickly learn how to use the website.
Few active users - MediaWiki sites require regular participation from users to make full use of collaboration.	Obtain more users through gamification techniques or more advertisement.
"Main Page" and "My Userpage" are essentially identical except for a few subtle differences	Merge "Main Page" tab with "My Userpage" tab.

Table 4: List of problems and recommendations associated with FinLab Wiki

FinLab Wiki's website design is very straightforward. Figure 13 shows a simple flowchart of the website's design; there are four main categories (hereby referred to as tabs) that dictate the structure of the website. Users start at the "Main Page" tab and switch between this, the "Create a Ticket" tab, the "Guide" tab, and the "My Userpage" tab. All tabs eventually lead to either the "Ticket Summary" section or the "Existing Category" section.



Figure 13: Flowchart showing FinLab Wiki's website structure.

The website's functionality revolves around two terms: tickets and keywords. On the website, tickets are the fundamental statement of a problem (Baumann, Farrar, Gray, 2015). Every ticket contains a description of the problem and links to related tickets and relevant research. A keyword is a word or phrase that describes a topic of research. Users can find related tickets and other users with similar interests by searching the wiki with a keyword search

The "Main Page" tab includes a "My Projects" section, a "My Keywords" section, and a "New Tickets" section. The "My Userpage" tab shares this same information, which prompts the question, why are these two tabs separate?

There are subtle differences between the "Main Page" tab and the "My Userpage" tab. The first difference is the introductory paragraph found on the "Main Page" tab that welcomes users and explains the purpose of the website. The second difference is how the "My Keywords" section is formatted; the "Main Page" tab shows the keywords (also called page categories, or "tags") as part of a moving image while the "My Userpage" tab shows the keywords in a list in addition to the moving image. Another difference is that the "Main Page" tab has an additional link that takes users to a record of all the projects. The last difference is that users can update their keywords on the "My Userpage" tab via the user page dropdown menu found on the top of this tab, but not on the "Main Page" tab. Figures 14 through 18 show the differences between the two tabs.

	Image: Constraint of the set of the s
Edit Personal - Page - Actions - Tools -	Bearch Co a Tricket Guide My Userpage
Main Page	
Welcome to the Financial Media Lab Collaborative Wiki This is the main page for the colaborative software initially created by WPI students to assist in students collaboration among projects. Please email alexander.didenko@gmail.com with any questions or concerns. / это затавлая страница cating and contypuevects a succeptoaswerk, cosgameoro crygenrawu WPI is pawax coewectnero npoetra dweanceoro niveepcurerta w WPI. Bauw sonpocu w negroxenews manpansitre alexander.didenko@gmail.com.	Contents
My Projects Project Title Supervisor + Author + Status Creation date + Test Additenso Newing Newing Created 23 September 2015 16 20.26 + Reproducible Research for Online Research Colaboration Addersio Newing Newing Newing Created 23 September 2015 16 20.26	[hde] 1 Welcome to the Financial Media Lab Collaborative Wiki 2 My Projects 3 My Keywords 4 New Tickets
My Keywords	
Factorers, Experimental The WINK Face and a Theorem 10. Representation.	
Ballas Benerith Galiphärgicking Wills, winn,	
New Tickete	
🖶 Search the web and Windows 🕕 🌀 Bearly Legal. 🧑 FA_Wild - G. 🧑 Chapter 4 D. 🌀 www.wpi.ed. 📙 Finlab Wild 🔯 💌	🤌 🤤 📉 Photos 🔨 🧼 🖘 印) 🬾 🗮 2245 PM 9/25/2015

Figure 14: "Main Page" tab (introductory paragraph highlighted in red & shown in Figure 15)

Main Page

Welcome to the Financial Media Lab Collaborative Wiki

This is the main page for the collaborative software initially created by WPI students to assist in students collaboration among projects. Ple questions or concerns. / Это заглавная страница сайта для сотрудничества в исследованиях, созданного студентами WPI в рамка: WPI. Ваши вопросы и предложения направляйте alexander.didenko@gmail.com.

My Projects

Project Title +	Supervisor +	Author +	Status +	Creation date +
Test	Adidenko	Nswong	Newly Created	23 September 2015 16:20:26
Reproducible Research for Online Research Collaboration	Adidenko	Nswong	Newly Created	22 September 2015 21:46:49

Figure 15: Introductory Paragraph

Sharanaint					
ener opanit,					
New Tickets					
Deployé Title	. Punanilaan .	Author	Creation data		
Project Title	Adidenko	Memory	22 Sentember 2015 21-46-49		
Mobile Applications for Collaborative Research	Adidenko	Dabaranik	6 Soptember 2015 21:40:49		
VDidenko	VDidenko	Beojamin Knuko	9 June 2015 07 20:13		
Анализ Банков с иностранным калиталом в РФ	VDidenko	SakharovAnton	9 June 2015 03:04:53		
Троблемы организационного и правового статуса центральных банков	VDidenko	Julia	8 June 2015 23:33:06		
емпы роста денежного и депозитного мультипликаторов	VDidenko	Бутов Артём	8 June 2015 22:31:52		
овершенствование системы рефинансирования	VDidenko	LostInTheAbyss	8 June 2015 22:07:28		
роблемы капитализации российской банковской системы	VDidenko	Alexandra	8 June 2015 21:26:37		
анковские кризисы в современной экономике на примере России	VDidenko	Adyana dzh	8 June 2015 20:07:00		
Тонятие и проблемы функционирования иностранных банков в России	И Диденко ВЮ	Sukhova	8 June 2015 19:57:09		
further results					
al lickets					
erms of Service					
	Priva	acy policy About	FA_Wiki Disclaimers		
		Powered	B Powerschy BootStrap		

Figure 16: "Main Page" tab - Tickets (hyperlink leading to all tickets page is highlighted in red)

🗅 FA_WIKI × 🗅 All Tickets - FA_Wiki × 🗅 User:N:	wong - FA_W × D [[Category:Ticket]] [[: × D FA_WIKI ×				(223)	σ	×
← → C [] finlabwiki.org/mediawiki/index.php?title=User:Nsv	long				Q, 5	☆ 🐵	5 ≣
👯 Apps 🗅 Social 🗀 WPI 🗀 IQP 🗀 Sigma Pi 🦳 Reddit 🗀 iD	ech 🗀 Banks 🗀 Music 🗀 Games 🗀 Video M Gmail 🏐 Manga 🖲 Amazon 👍 Goo	ogle Drive 😧 Text faces 🔤 Cl	IN 🗧 Бесплатный Wi	🕻 sleepyti.me 🔣 Lucid	Chart 🗀 The Feels (Remix Fe	eels »
Edit source Rereasel Liter same - Actions -	Toole -			Searc	th		
Edit source Personal • Oser page • Actions •	003 *			Go			
		Main n	create a Ticket	Guide My Use	rnage		
		mantp	ge oreate a riener		page		
C. I. S.							
FA+IFF							
LlearsNewerg							
UserInswong							
My Projects							
Niy i Tojecta							
Ticket Title	Supervisor Author Status Creation date						
Test Reproducible Research for Online Research C	Adidenko Nswong Newly Created 23 September 2015 16:20:26						
My Keywords							
FA Wild,							
Financial University FinLab Wiki,							
iline Research Collaboration,							
Reproducible Research.	k.						
Research Ooligheastics							
nesearca conauerauen, Sharepoint,							
					1		
(1)FA Wiki, (3) Financial University, (1)	inLab Wiki, (1)FinLabWiki, (1)Online Research Collaboration, (1)Reproducible, ((1) Reproducible Research,	(1)Research Collabo	ration, (1)Sharepoint,			
New Tickets							
						24	
Search the web and Windows	📃 🔲 🧑 Facebook 🧐 User:Nswon 🧐 Chapter 4 D 🧔 www.wpi	.ed 📔 FinLab Wiki	Screenshots	w] 🛹 🛜	🔨 🌍 🖘 🕼	9/2	5/2015

Figure 17: "My Userpage" tab, (list of keywords is highlighted in red on the bottom and shown in Figure 18. Also, User Page dropdown menu is highlighted in green on top).

My Keywords	
FA Wiki,	
Financial University FinLab Wiki,	
FinLabWiki, Iline Research Collaboration,	
Reproducible Research,	
Research Collaboration, Sharepoint,	

(1)FA Wiki, (3) Financial University, (1)FinLab Wiki, (1)FinLabWiki, (1)Online Research Collaboration, (1)Reproducible,

Figure 18: List of keywords highlighted in red

Clicking on a project will bring the user to a summary page of that project, while clicking on a keyword will redirect the user to a summary of an existing category for that keyword (Figure 19 and Figure 20). If there is no existing category for the keyword, then the user will be redirected to a page for creating new categories (Figure 21 and Figure 22). While the keywords feature is a great way to promote online research collaboration by grouping projects and users together, the execution of this feature is underwhelming because it relies on users to regularly update these pages. Very few categories have been created or updated due to the lack of active users, so most keywords redirect to the creating a new category page.



Figure 19: Existing category summary for the Data Envelopment Analysis keyword. (Content summary for this page is highlighted in red and shown in Figure 20.)



Figure 20: Contents summary for Data Envelopment Analysis category



Figure 21: Creating a new category for the Data analysis keyword. (Note that most keywords redirect to this page, as very few categories have been created or updated)

Creating Category:Data analysis

You have followed a link to a page that does not exist yet. To create the page, start typing in the box below (see button.

Preview

Remember that this is only a preview. Your changes have not yet been saved! \rightarrow Go to editing area

Description Pages in category "Data analysis"

The following 3 pages are in this category, out of 3 total.

U

- US Football Player's Salaries
- Wiki Project:US Football Player's Salaries
- US Hockey Player Salaries

B Z Ab 🗞 A 📼 📐 🞯 Gu —

Figure 22: Creating a new category for the Data analysis keyword – closer view

The "Guide" tab is the third main tab of FinLab Wiki. This tab contains instructions on how to create a ticket, a guide on what users can do on the "My Userpage" tab, a table describing how to format links on the website, and two links which direct the user to the MediaWiki help sections on formatting links and text, respectively.

An unfortunate consequence of using FinLab Wiki is that users who wish to utilize formatting features, such as bolding or hyperlinking, must become familiar with basic programming in PHP or a lightweight wiki markup language. For example, some FinLab Wiki users who participated in our focus groups have expressed their dismay at how they must type "" and " and " around the words they wish to bold, and would much rather bold words by pressing a bold button (see Appendix E: Master Students Focus Group Notes for full details of the focus group). The "Guide" tab does a poor job of teaching non-programmers these basics, a flaw that is further complicated by the fact that most students attending the Financial University under the Government of the Russian Federation (2015a) are non-programmers who are studying finance and economics. Figure 23 through Figure 25 show what little information FinLab Wiki has related to formatting.

	Formattin	g Lir	าks
--	-----------	-------	-----

				Basic Wikilink Syntax
Code	\rightarrow	Result	Target	Description
[[a]]	\rightarrow	а	а	The simplest wikilink
[[a b]]	\rightarrow	ab	ab	Multiple words
[[a b c d]]	\rightarrow	c d	ab	Link targets 'a b' but displays 'c d' *
[[a b]]c	\rightarrow	a bc	ab	The link label is the link target, with its last language)
<nowiki>[[a]]</nowiki>	\rightarrow	[[a]]	Ø	Text is displayed as typed without the prop
entered: [[a (b)]], converted to: [[a (b) a]]	\rightarrow	а	a (b)	A pipe ' ' immediately before the closing br displayed *,***
entered: [[a, b]], converted to: [[a, b a]]	\rightarrow	а	a, b	A pipe ' ' immediately before the closing br it is displayed *,***
entered: [[w:a]], converted to: [[w:a a]]	\rightarrow	а	w:a	A pipe ' ' immediately before the closing br displayed *,**,***
entered: [[w:a (b)]], converted to: [[w:a (b) a]]	\rightarrow	а	w:a (b)	A pipe ' ' immediately before the closing br part in parentheses when it is displayed *,**
entered: [[mediawiki:1movedto2]]	\rightarrow	mediawiki:1movedto2	Mediawiki:1movedto2	
entered: [[mediawiki:1movedto3]]	\rightarrow	mediawiki:1movedto3	Mediawiki:1movedto3	

More information about formatting links can be found	here	L
More about formatting text on the wiki can be found	lere 🗅	

Figure 23: "Guide" tab, (Formatting Links table with hyperlinks leading to MediaWiki's help pages highlighted in red on the bottom)

nal • Special page • 1	'ools -					_			Search			
FASIF					-	Main page	Create a Ticket	Guide	My Userpage	_		
	new ticke	t: US Te	ennis Pl	ayer's S	Salarie	es	Formatting	Information:			ľ	
Project Supervisor: Project Members: Project Description:	Supervisor username Member(s) username(s)						Links [Link tex italics <i>italics</i>	t] s				
Database(s):							bold bold bullets	D>				
File(s):		Upload file					*bullet1					
Methods:							*bullet3 1. Numbered	ers list		-		
Pro:							#flumber 1 #Number 2 #flumber 3 More					

Figure 24: "Create New Ticket" tab. (Highlighted in red on the right-side is a cheat sheet with information on how to format in PHP/markup language.)



Figure 25: Cheat sheet on formatting information

The "Create a Ticket" tab is the last main tab, which prompts users to enter a title for a ticket. If the ticket exists, users are redirected to a page where they can edit the ticket; otherwise, if the ticket does not exist, users are redirected to a page where they can create a new ticket (Figure 24). After editing an existing ticket or creating a new ticket, the user is taken to a ticket summary page for that project (Figure 26). On the website, the title for a ticket also functions as
a hyperlink which redirects the user to the ticket summary page of that project. Therefore, users

can access the ticket summary page for any project from the "Main Page" tab, the "My

Userpage" tab, the "All Tickets" page, or by using the search bar found on the top-right corner of every page.

US Football Player's Salaries

	US Football Player's Salaries
Project Supervisor:	
Author(s):	FA Admin,
Project Members:	Keenangray,wefarrar,phbaumann,
Predecessor:	US Hockey Player Salaries
Successor:	

Data collection, Salaries, Data analysis, advertisement, contract, DEA, Open Go to Project,

Database:

Keywords:

Status:

Project

Rankings and information can be found here at http://www.spotrac.com/rankings/nfl/ .

Files:

- 1. File:Test1-txt.txt
- 2. File:Testzip.zip

Project Description:

An analysis of the salaries of top football athletes in the United States.

Figure 26: US Football Player's Salaries ticket summary page.

When first accessing the website, new users are taken to a security page and prompted to log-in. Users cannot access other pages without logging in, providing the website with some privacy. However, once users get past this security feature, they are given full access to all pages on the website. This proves to be problematic as all users are able to edit, alter, or remove any contributions made to the website (Figure 27 shows the warning displayed to users attempting to edit a page). With the fear of having their work altered, stolen, or deleted on a whim, most FinLab Wiki users have stopped using the website.

Summary:	
□ This is a minor edit Watch this page	
Please note that all contributions to FA_WIKI may be edited, altered, or removed by other	contributors. If you do
not want your writing to be edited mercilessly, then do not submit it here.	
You are also promising us that you wrote this yourself, or copied it from a public domain or	similar free resource
(see FA WIKI:Copyrights for details). Do not submit copyrighted work without permiss	ion!
Save page Show preview Show changes Cancel Editing help (opens in	new window)

Figure 27: Warning shown to users when editing a page, (highlighted in red)

Appendix C: Focus Group Protocol

Introduction:

We are students from Worcester Polytechnic Institute (WPI) located in Worcester, Massachusetts, USA. Our group is studying in Moscow in order to complete an important academic requirement for graduation. Our project involves determining potential ways to increase research collaboration within the Financial University (FU) through the use of an online collaboration platform.

Mission Statement:

The goal of our project is to determine how to improve Financial University's knowledge and research management software so that the researchers at the Financial University's many campuses can collaborate on their research more <u>effectively</u> and <u>efficiently</u>.

Conductors of Focus Group:

Time, Date, and Location:

Participants:



General Research

- 1. What sort of research do you do? How often do you write research papers? How often do you publish these papers?
- 2. How do you find your research partners?
- 3. What current tools do you use for research collaboration? (Google Docs, Email, etc). What do you like about these tools? What do you dislike?
- 4. What are the factors that block you from creating and publishing papers? Are there other, larger obstacles for collaboration?

Gamification

5. What are the incentives for you to conduct research? If a collaboration platform had rewards based on use (grants for researchers, prizes for students, etc), would more people use it?

Mobile Applications

6. We want to design a mobile application to connect researchers with each other. What features would be useful in this? What about a function that helps you find researchers with similar interests? (the network will be internal for now but expandable)

Reproducible Research

7. Are you familiar with the principles of reproducible research? (If no, explain) Would you be willing to incorporate these principles into your research?

End

8. Is there anything else anyone wants to add that we didn't touch upon?

Appendix D: Focus Group Notes with Sociology undergraduate students

Introduction:

We are students from Worcester Polytechnic Institute (WPI) located in Worcester, Massachusetts, USA. Our group is studying in Moscow in order to complete an important academic requirement for graduation. Our project involves determining potential ways to increase research collaboration within the Financial University (FU) through the use of an online collaboration platform.

Mission Statement:

The goal of our project is to determine how to improve Financial University's knowledge and research management software so that the researchers at the Financial University's many campuses can collaborate on their research more <u>effectively</u> and <u>efficiently</u>.

Conductors of Focus Group:

Ying Lu Christopher Navarro Nicholas Wong

Time, Date, and Location:

15:40-16:30 September 14, 2015, Bloomberg Lab, Financial University

Participants:

Relationship with FU:
2nd year undergraduate w/ sociologist background
3rd year undergraduate w/ sociologist background

General Research

- 1. What sort of research do you do? How often do you write research papers? How often do you publish these papers?
 - Most of their research is done for academic purposes by using the Internet and the university's library.
 - Why do you research?
 - For marks/grades
 - For master's project
 - Do you write research papers?
 - *Rarely, most of the students' involvement with research papers are during their 4th year*
 - Instead a few keep portfolios
 - Do you publish these?
 - *Rarely, however the group had a desire to publish their work if it was of good quality.*
- 2. How do you find your research partners?
 - Normally, through their own personal network of friends
 - They also sometimes use social media tools to connect with others
 - Example given: Facebook
- 3. What current tools do you use for research collaboration? (Google Docs, Email, etc). What do you like about these tools? What do you dislike?
 - Google translate, docs, email, and social media tools were listed.
 - *However, the group preferred to meet in person for collaboration or work individually.*
 - *How do you work individually?*
 - Divide and conquer with tasks
- 4. What are the factors that block you from creating and publishing papers? Are there other, larger obstacles for collaboration?
 - Time
 - Lack of interest or motivation
 - Not enough skill
 - 3rd or 4th year student bias for research publication
 - Problems with professors
 - There is no support or instruction to help them publish their research.

- Are there accessible resources that could help guide you through the publication process?
 - *None that they are aware of.*
 - There is a lack of general support for the process.

Gamification

- 5. What are the incentives for you to conduct research? If a collaboration platform had rewards based on use (grants for researchers, prizes for students, etc), would more people use it?
 - Incentives:
 - Personal interest
 - Recognition
 - Their work could be shown to potential employers
 - To share personal opinions
 - What rewards would you like to see?
 - Scholarships
 - Monetary rewards
 - Recognition
 - Connect with companies (career driven)

Mobile Applications

- 6. We want to design a mobile application to connect researchers with each other. What features would be useful in this? What about a function that helps you find researchers with similar interests? (the network will be internal for now but expandable)
 - Do you all have a smartphone?
 - \circ All answered yes.
 - Features mentioned:
 - Avoid chat feature:
 - The group believed this feature would be too informal.
 - *Online functionality:*
 - The group wanted to be able to access their files offline.
 - Contact information:
 - The group wanted to be able to find a person's contact information through the app.

Reproducible Research

- 7. Are you familiar with the principles of reproducible research? (If no, explain) Would you be willing to incorporate these principles into your research?
 - Are you aware of what reproducible research is?

- \circ All answered no.
- A brief explanation of the subject was given to the group.
- Would you be willing to incorporate this idea into your research?
 - Only if it is a large project, otherwise no.

End

- 8. Is there anything else anyone wants to add that we didn't touch upon?
 - Exchanged contact information

Gave the participant a survey that they would fill out and return to our Russian associates.

Appendix E: Focus Group Notes with Master students

Introduction:

We are students from Worcester Polytechnic Institute (WPI) located in Worcester, Massachusetts, USA. Our group is studying in Moscow in order to complete an important academic requirement for graduation. Our project involves determining potential ways to increase research collaboration within the Financial University (FU) through the use of an online collaboration platform.

Mission Statement:

The goal of our project is to determine how to improve Financial University's knowledge and research management software so that the researchers at the Financial University's many campuses can collaborate on their research more <u>effectively</u> and <u>efficiently</u>.

Conductors of Focus Group:

Ying Lu Christopher Navarro Nicholas Wong

Time, Date, and Location:

17:00-17:50 September 14, 2015, Bloomberg Lab, Financial University

Participants:

Relationship with FU:
1st year master student

General Research

- 1. What sort of research do you do? How often do you write research papers? How often do you publish these papers?
 - What sort of research do you do?
 - Corporate findings
 - Managing business data
 - Master dissertations
 - Writing and presenting financial findings
 - The study of theory versus practice
 - Through the use of Bloomberg
 - *How often do you write research papers?*
 - Approximately 2 times per semester
 - *How often do you publish these?*
 - Sometimes, more so when there is a competition.
 - Some members had published up to 30 articles
 - There is a large gap between the quality and quantity of published papers.
- 2. How do you find your research partners?
 - Scientific advisors
 - Addressing a professor who is an expert in your research topic.
 - Through student societies
 - Every faculty has a local society that can help find you partners.
 - The students mentioned a lot of individual work is required to find research partners.
- 3. What current tools do you use for research collaboration? (Google Docs, Email, etc). What do you like about these tools? What do you dislike?
 - What current tools do you use for collaboration?
 - Social networks
 - Skype
 - Email
 - Dropbox
 - Google Drive
 - FinLab Wiki
 - What do you like about them?
 - Ability to send documents
 - Version control

- Easy to use
- Privacy control
- *Chat system capability*
- What do you dislike?
 - A lot of the dislikes focused around FinLab Wiki
 - FinLab Wiki:
 - Not user friendly
 - Sometimes broke with file upload
 - No privacy
 - No file or message sending
- 4. What are the factors that block you from creating and publishing papers? Are there other, larger obstacles for collaboration?
 - Other priorities
 - *Finding the right people to work with*

Gamification

- 5. What are the incentives for you to conduct research? If a collaboration platform had rewards based on use (grants for researchers, prizes for students, etc), would more people use it?
 - Incentives:
 - Monetary
 - Fills degree/grade requirements
 - Scholarships
 - Want more opportunities for them as well
 - Recognition
 - A lasting impression
 - Looks good to employers, and other selective processes
 - More people would be willing to use a tool which used these incentives.

Mobile Applications

- 6. We want to design a mobile application to connect researchers with each other. What features would be useful in this? What about a function that helps you find researchers with similar interests? (the network will be internal for now but expandable)
 - Features:
 - \circ File sharing
 - Chat
 - Newsfeed/timeline of current work
 - Ability to follow other researchers

Reproducible Research

- 7. Are you familiar with the principles of reproducible research?(If no, explain) Would you be willing to incorporate these principles into your research?
 - Are you familiar with reproducible research?
 - Yes, somewhat.
 - Would you be willing to use it?
 - *Most said yes, and some were even using in their research already.*
 - Those who weren't using it would strongly consider using it.

End

- 8. Is there anything else anyone wants to add that we didn't touch upon?
 - Exchanged emails

Handed out paper survey to participants

Appendix F: Focus Group Notes with Professors

Introduction:

We are students from Worcester Polytechnic Institute (WPI) located in Worcester, Massachusetts, USA. Our group is studying in Moscow in order to complete an important academic requirement for graduation. Our project involves determining potential ways to increase research collaboration within the Financial University (FU) through the use of an online collaboration platform.

Mission Statement:

The goal of our project is to determine how to improve Financial University's knowledge and research management software so that the researchers at the Financial University's many campuses can collaborate on their research more <u>effectively</u> and <u>efficiently</u>.

Conductors of Focus Group:

Josh Hebert Qiaoyu Liao Justin Vitiello

Time, Date, and Location:

13:40-14:23, September 15, 2015, Bloomberg Lab, Financial University

Participants:

Relationship with FU:
Professor
Professor

General Research

- 1. What sort of research do you do? How often do you write research papers? How often do you publish these papers?
 - What sort of research do you do?
 - Articles in foreign and Russian journals
 - Conference and roundtable meetings
 - for degrees, PhD, etc.
 - Supervise students articles
 - Professional work related to expertise
 - There is difference between Russian and international journals
 - Quality for international journals is higher
- 2. How do you find your research partners?
 - Through Dean's office resources
 - Masters:
 - need to submit their working area to dean's office and professors will assign them to projects
 - Bachelors:
 - Professors create offers involving different research topics, and students apply for them
 - Professors will supervise 5-7 students, and then build a team
 - Need to keep in touch with Prof. and Dean's office to get information for available research opportunities
- 3. What current tools do you use for research collaboration? (Google Docs, Email, etc). What do you like about these tools? What do you dislike?
 - Google drive/Email:
 - There is no time to study other platforms; Drive is simple and open source
 - Alternatives:
 - Dropbox for students
- 4. What are the factors that block you from creating and publishing papers? Are there other, larger obstacles for collaboration?
 - Supervisors need to be motivated so that students will publish consistently; however, it is easier to work with an individual student.
 - More efficient to work alone

- Journals may not accept a paper
- *Time constraints*
- Lack of interest/motivation from students

Gamification

- 5. What are the incentives for you to conduct research? If a collaboration platform had rewards based on use (grants for researchers, prizes for students, etc), would more people use it?
 - Incentives:
 - Scholarships
 - Education programs/grants, save money
 - Provide career opportunities

Mobile Applications

- 6. We want to design a mobile application to connect researchers with each other. What features would be useful in this? What about a function that helps you find researchers with similar interests? (the network will be internal for now but expandable)
 - Have a progress bar for each researcher
 - Researchers will usually not share their data and progress
 - This will create competition
 - *Easy to measure*
 - Why avoid sharing?
 - Plagiarism
 - Afraid to have similar work to present at the same time
 - Want to be unique and individual

Reproducible Research

- 7. Are you familiar with the principles of reproducible research?(If no, explain) Would you be willing to incorporate these principles into your research?
 - Yes:
 - However, there is no widely available system platform to do it
 - Would be willing to incorporate; however, this is hard to continue among students, especially after they graduate

End

- 8. Is there anything else anyone wants to add that we didn't touch upon?
 - System that allows students to continue research from previous students
 - No research focus with 1st and 2nd year students
 - Teach students about researching earlier (publication and writing)

- *FU is an educational university, so there shouldn't be too much focus on research*
- Contact Info:
 - Can be found at Room 343

Appendix G: Focus Group Notes with International Economics Relation undergraduate students

Introduction:

We are students from Worcester Polytechnic Institute (WPI) located in Worcester, Massachusetts, USA. Our group is studying in Moscow in order to complete an important academic requirement for graduation. Our project involves determining potential ways to increase research collaboration within the Financial University (FU) through the use of an online collaboration platform.

Mission Statement:

The goal of our project is to determine how to improve Financial University's knowledge and research management software so that the researchers at the Financial University's many campuses can collaborate on their research more <u>effectively</u> and <u>efficiently</u>.

Conductors of Focus Group:

Josh Hebert Qiaoyu Liao Justin Vitiello

Time, Date, and Location:

15:40-16:10, September 15, 2015, Bloomberg, Financial University

Participants:

Relationship with FU:
International Economic Relations (IER) Undergraduate
International Economic Relations (IER) Undergraduate
International Economic Relations (IER) Undergraduate

General Research

- 1. What sort of research do you do? How often do you write research papers? How often do you publish these papers?
 - Most research pertains to academic requirements
 - Published a couple papers within the University; however, this is a low level/college level of publication
 - There isn't a lot of collaboration
- 2. How do you find your research partners?
 - Through Professors
 - Through own personal networks or friends and associates
- 3. What current tools do you use for research collaboration? (Google Docs, Email, etc). What do you like about these tools? What do you dislike?
 - A majority of research is done individually
 - Face-to-face meetings/communication
 - Dropbox
 - Email
- 4. What are the factors that block you from creating and publishing papers? Are there other, larger obstacles for collaboration?
 - Difficult to find useful material
 - Hard to use search engines to find specific information
 - Library at FU is complicated to use
 - A lot of potential resources cost money

Gamification

- 5. What are the incentives for you to conduct research? If a collaboration platform had rewards based on use (grants for researchers, prizes for students, etc), would more people use it?
 - Incentives:
 - Career and job opportunities

Mobile Applications

6. We want to design a mobile application to connect researchers with each other. What features would be useful in this? What about a function that helps you find researchers with similar interests? (the network will be internal for now but expandable)

- Keep files private to avoid plagiarism
- Implement notification system with file sharing

Reproducible Research

- 7. Are you familiar with the principles of reproducible research?(If no, explain) Would you be willing to incorporate these principles into your research?
 - No
 - The topic should be presented in a user-friendly way that is:
 - structured well
 - *easy to understand*

End

- 8. Is there anything else anyone wants to add that we didn't touch upon?
 - Potential solutions to get people to collaborate
 - Insure competitions are fair, otherwise motivation will diminish
 - Scholarship
 - The current system is not clear enough
 - The requirements for scholarships are too high
 - Not enough recognition
 - Referencing Research:
 - There is no Russian standard to do it

Appendix H: Focus Group Notes with International Economics Relation undergraduate students

Introduction:

We are students from Worcester Polytechnic Institute (WPI) located in Worcester, Massachusetts, USA. Our group is studying in Moscow in order to complete an important academic requirement for graduation. Our project involves determining potential ways to increase research collaboration within the Financial University (FU) through the use of an online collaboration platform.

Mission Statement:

The goal of our project is to determine how to improve Financial University's knowledge and research management software so that the researchers at the Financial University's many campuses can collaborate on their research more <u>effectively</u> and <u>efficiently</u>.

Conductors of Focus Group:

Dylan Baranik Eli Gonzalez Han Junxiu

Time, Date, and Location:

13:20-14:00, September 16, 2015, Bloomberg Lab, Financial University

Participants: (Skipped)

Name:	Relationship with FU:
Six participants	*All IIF Undergraduates

General Research

- 1. What sort of research do you do? How often do you write research papers? How often do you publish these papers?
 - What sort of research do you do?
 - Trading research, company relations, investor strategies, accounting, analyzing key performances and futures of companies
 - How often do you publish papers?
 - Three of the members had published before
 - Approximately once a year
 - Some have this as a requirement for their degree
- 2. How do you find your research partners?
 - No standardized process to do this
 - Most people just end up working with familiar acquaintances
 - Sometimes teachers will delegate people to work together
 - Team member makes you more productive, more efficient
 - Perception is that working with more people would lead to a better quality of work
- 3. What current tools do you use for research collaboration? (Google Docs, Email, etc). What do you like about these tools? What do you dislike?
 - Not a lot of tools are used, instead there is a lot of face-to-face communication
 - Meeting in person is better than email; phone communication is not preferred
 - Email is common and the preferred method for communication and sharing ideas
- 4. What are the factors that block you from creating and publishing papers? Are there other, larger obstacles for collaboration?
 - Different standards and requirements for different journals are boring to learn and difficult to deal with
 - Waste time making work appropriate for different magazines with different standards
 - You have to pay to get your work published
 - Collaboration obstacles:
 - Haven't found an ideal partner
 - Would prefer a partner, but it's difficult to find one
 - process of finding a partner is difficult and can be inconsistent

- Very difficult to find time to work with group members: can delegate to get around this problem, however this commonly leads to people becoming more separated from the rest of the group
- General strategy is talk about tasks to be accomplished face-to-face and then separate to do delegated tasks

Gamification

- 5. What are the incentives for you to conduct research? If a collaboration platform had rewards based on use (grants for researchers, prizes for students, etc), would more people use it?
 - Be able to market previous research to companies to provide career opportunities
 - Improve grades, get extra credit
 - Doing research projects helps you learn
 - Scholarships
 - Many aren't compensated, so there is no incentive for these students
 - There are only 9 scholarship students in International Finance Faculty at any given time

Mobile Applications

- 6. We want to design a mobile application to connect researchers with each other. What features would be useful in this? What about a function that helps you find researchers with similar interests? (the network will be internal for now but expandable)
 - Profile should have all of these things:
 - Photo, resume, spheres of interest, previous works, age, gender, competitions or conferences they are in, magazines published in, future career plans, language, location, notes about themselves, what personality traits are they looking for, skills (programming, etc.) they have and skills they are looking for
 - Everyone has a smartphone ~95% percent

Reproducible Research

- 7. Are you familiar with the principles of reproducible research?(If no, explain) Would you be willing to incorporate these principles into your research?
 - Somewhat familiar (only one student knew about it)
 - Definitely, useful for teachers as well
 - Teachers can control working process, have to show your results
 - Useful for future publications

End

8. Is there anything else anyone wants to add that we didn't touch upon? - Skipped

Appendix I: Focus Group Notes with International Finance Faculty undergraduate students

Introduction:

We are students from Worcester Polytechnic Institute (WPI) located in Worcester, Massachusetts, USA. Our group is studying in Moscow in order to complete an important academic requirement for graduation. Our project involves determining potential ways to increase research collaboration within the Financial University (FU) through the use of an online collaboration platform.

Mission Statement:

The goal of our project is to determine how to improve Financial University's knowledge and research management software so that the researchers at the Financial University's many campuses can collaborate on their research more <u>effectively</u> and <u>efficiently</u>.

Conductors of Focus Group:

Josh Hebert Eli Gonzalez Justin Vitiello

Time, Date, and Location:

16:00-17:15, September 25, 2015, Bloomberg Lab, Financial University

Participants: (Skipped)

Name:	Relationship with FU:
Six Participants	*All Young Scientist Representatives

General Research

- 1. What sort of research do you do? How often do you write research papers? How often do you publish these papers?
 - Opportunities for publishing several times per year
 - *dependent on workload, however, it is required to publish a number per year*
 - Sometimes 1 or 2 per year (below average), 5 or 6 average, up to 10
 - If they take part in a round table, they will publish proceedings
 - Collaborative research is often easier to publish, as co-authors may have connections
 - More authors, more connections
 - If you do not have particularly strong network, it is better to collaborate
- 2. How do you find your research partners?
 - Through own personal networks
- 3. What current tools do you use for research collaboration? (Google Docs, Email, etc). What do you like about these tools? What do you dislike?
 - Russia is very conservative in this respective
 - WhatsApp, Skype, text messaging very popular
 - Typical to meet once per month to divide work
 - However, there are teams that meet far more often
- 4. What are the factors that block you from creating and publishing papers? Are there other, larger obstacles for collaboration?
 - No real obstacles to publishing in Russia
 - The main issue with Russian journals is the quality. They tend to not have high quality articles
 - International articles
 - Charge money just to look at article. Does not guarantee publication
 - In Russia, publication is guaranteed if the fee is paid

Gamification

- 5. What are the incentives for you to conduct research? If a collaboration platform had rewards based on use (grants for researchers, prizes for students, etc), would more people use it?
- As of right now, for this group, if there is a requirement to publish a number of articles per year, they will do it

- However, they will publish to lower quality journals
- People will write papers for the reputation
- These lead to improved career paths
- If they have the time, they will publish
- The best incentives should be the desire to be researchers
 - It should not be a quantity requirement for a degree
 - *People will either copy-paste other articles, write low-quality ones, etc.*
 - Leads to bad researchers receiving degrees

Mobile Applications

- 6. We want to design a mobile application to connect researchers with each other. What features would be useful in this? What about a function that helps you find researchers with similar interests? (the network will be internal for now but expandable)
 - The idea is good. Should not be just a tool to view papers; plenty of tools that do that.
 - Should force public profiles and focus on providing contact information
 - Will likely only be popular in major cities with colleges/universities
 - Should establish a precedent that if you have an account, you are expected to reply
 - *Replying should prevent ambiguity. Responses should be yes or no*

Reproducible Research

- 7. Are you familiar with the principles of reproducible research?(If no, explain) Would you be willing to incorporate these principles into your research?
 - *May discourage people from checking the credibility*
 - Looking at these algorithms may lead to the false assumption that there is nothing more? to explore
 - May stunt creativity and innovation
 - Can cause issues when working with confidential data from a company.
 - FinLab Wiki was an attempt at this, but it shows too much information before a paper is ready to publish
 - Researchers prefer privacy while working on papers

End

- 8. Is there anything else anyone wants to add that we didn't touch upon?
 - (Skipped)

Appendix J: Sponsor Interview Protocol

Introduction:

We are students from Worcester Polytechnic Institute (WPI) located in Worcester, Massachusetts, USA. Our group is studying in Moscow in order to complete an important degree requirement by completing this research project. Our project involves looking at potential ways to increase research collaboration among researchers within the Financial University, particularly among users of FinLab Wiki. Your responses will help us understand the actual usage of FinLab Wiki and investigate potential ways to improve it.

Mission Statement:

The goal of the project is to determine how to improve Financial University's knowledge and research management software so that the researchers at the Financial University's many campuses can collaborate on their research more <u>effectively</u> and <u>efficiently</u>.

Confidentiality:

Before we start this interview we want to make sure that you give us your permission to use any information you provide in our final report. We will keep your identity anonymous (if desired), and we can stop the interview at any time if you feel uncomfortable. You also do not have to answer any questions that would make you uncomfortable.

Conductors of Interview:

Time, Date, and Location:

Interviewee:

Name:	Relationship with FU:

Interview Questions

- 1. As the new Dean of IER Faculty (International Economic Relations), what do your duties include?
- 2. Can you tell us about the structure of researchers of the Financial University?
- 3. Can you tell us about the details of the research situation at this university?
- 4. What were your original intentions with the WPI project last year? Do you think the project was successful?
- 5. What do you see as a major roadblock to research productivity: within FU and worldwide?
- 6. For the gamification team, we are looking to provide tangible incentives, such as small research grants, a free trip to a conference in their field, or anything similar. Is this a possibility within the University?

Appendix K: Sponsor Interview Notes

Introduction:

We are students from Worcester Polytechnic Institute (WPI) located in Worcester, Massachusetts, USA. Our group is studying in Moscow in order to complete an important degree requirement by completing this research project. Our project involves looking at potential ways to increase research collaboration among researchers within the Financial University, particularly among users of FinLab Wiki. Your responses will help us understand the actual usage of FinLab Wiki and investigate potential ways to improve it.

Mission Statement:

The goal of the project is to determine how to improve Financial University's knowledge and research management software so that the researchers at the Financial University's many campuses can collaborate on their research more <u>effectively</u> and <u>efficiently</u>.

Confidentiality:

Before we start this interview we want to make sure that you give us your permission to use any information you provide in our final report. We will keep your identity anonymous (if desired), and we can stop the interview at any time if you feel uncomfortable. You also do not have to answer any questions that would make you uncomfortable.

Conductors of Interview:

Han Junxiu Ying Lu

Time, Date, and Location:

14:00-15:15, September 21, 2015, Room 315, Financial University

Interviewee:

Name:	Relationship with FU:
Prof. Alexander Didenko	Dean of IER Faculty (International Economic Relations)

Interview Questions

- 1. As the new Dean of IER Faculty (International Economic Relations), what do your duties include?
 - Everything:
 - More specifically, everything that will make students happy.
 - Prepare students to write their dissertations
 - Instruct students in activities, such as:
 - competitions
 - conferences
 - etc.
 - Key Performance Indicators (KPI):
 - Short Term:
 - Make students desirable to employers
 - Long Term:
 - Make students influential in the industry/world
- 2. Can you tell us about the structure of researchers of the Financial University?
 - There are two types of researcher at FU: major researchers and student researchers.
 - Major Researchers (such as PhDs)
 - They teach and do research at FU
 - They are paid for researching
 - Topics of their research are normally chosen from proposed government plan so that they are funded, as opposed to self-created topics.
 - Incentives:
 - Personal interest/curiosity
 - In order to be re-elected (re-hired) they must produce a certain number of publications
 - Student Researchers (Bachelors and Masters):
 - Research and take courses at FU
 - They must apply for certain research topics which are advertised by the different departments at FU
 - Incentives:
 - Degree requirements:
 - \circ Grades
 - Dissertations
 - Published papers reflect well on student portfolios

- Government is more likely to provide money to student who participates in research
- Do Students work for major researchers?
 - Theoretically, yes; however, departments do not trust the students to arrange these relationships and lack time for arranging them themselves.
- 3. Can you tell us about the details of the research situation at this university?
 - *Not happy about the current situation:*
 - Sometimes departments won't change the topic of the research topic yearto-year.
 - This is easy for departments and poses less risks to serve as a student's dissertation topic.
 - Faculties tend to focus on teaching, not researching due to their tendency to do the minimum amount of work.
 - Students will give up when encountering problems in research, causing departments to lose students or have low-quality students.
 - Students lack the experience to gauge the difficulty of performing a task, and often take on more than they can handle.
 - The Pros and Cons section of FinLab Wiki was intended to help inform students of the risks of certain tasks.
 - Didenko blames the reporting culture of research publications in Russia for this problem.
- 4. What were your original intentions with the WPI project last year? Do you think the project was successful?
 - Original intentions:
 - To increase the cooperation among FU and match students and professors based on research interests.
 - Provide a platform where researchers can share results, and build on each other's findings, thus promoting a higher quality of research output.
 - Was it successful?
 - Yes
 - *FinLab Wiki satisfied the original goals; however, it can be more successful.*
 - FinLab Wiki's major obstacle was lack of usage and not enough people realize its value.

- 5. What do you see as a major roadblock to research productivity: within FU and worldwide?
 - Within FU:
 - *Lack of motivation*
 - Language barriers
 - Hard To Find trustworthy cooperators
 - Students don't have enough experience:
 - They don't put in enough effort to produce high quality research
 - They often give up
 - Don't know how much they can handle
 - Worldwide:
 - The Western world of research is ideal compared to the current situation in FU and Russia
- 6. For the gamification team, we are looking to provide tangible incentives, such as small research grants, a free trip to a conference in their field, or anything similar. Is this a possibility within the University?
 - Incentives for major researchers:
 - *Hard to provide money*
 - It isn't a good way to encourage researchers; it will spoil them.
 - Inviting a professor to a conference might be a bad idea.
 - They would have fun instead of working.
 - Incentives for students:
 - *Recognition:*
 - Certificates
 - Diplomas
 - Educational grants, such as a reduction in tuition

Appendix L: IT Director Interview Protocol

Introduction:

We are students from Worcester Polytechnic Institute (WPI) located in Worcester, Massachusetts, USA. Our group is studying in Moscow in order to complete an important degree requirement by completing this research project. Our project involves looking at potential ways to increase research collaboration among researchers within the Financial University, particularly among users of FinLab Wiki. Your responses will help us understand the actual usage of FinLab Wiki and investigate potential ways to improve it.

Mission Statement:

The goal of the project is to determine how to improve Financial University's knowledge and research management software so that the researchers at the Financial University's many campuses can collaborate on their research more <u>effectively</u> and <u>efficiently</u>.

Confidentiality:

Before we start this interview we want to make sure that you give us your permission to use any information you provide in our final report. We will keep your identity anonymous (if desired), and we can stop the interview at any time if you feel uncomfortable. You also do not have to answer any questions that would make you uncomfortable.

Conductors of Interview:

Time, Date, and Location:

Interviewee:

Name:	Relationship with FU:

Interview Questions

- 1. As the head of Information Technology at Financial University, what do your duties include?
- 2. What software tools are provided by the University?
- 3. How is your user-base using the tools currently available to them?
- 4. What are your opinions on using FinLab Wiki as the premiere collaboration tool for Financial University?
- 5. Which tools do you think Financial University should use for online research collaboration?
- 6. Do you know what incentives/rewards could be offered as part of this collaboration tool?
- 7. Would it be possible to get your contact information as well as the contact information of other IT faculty members that could potentially answer our questions if we decide to follow-up?

Appendix M: IT Director Interview Notes

Introduction:

We are students from Worcester Polytechnic Institute (WPI) located in Worcester, Massachusetts, USA. Our group is studying in Moscow in order to complete an important degree requirement by completing this research project. Our project involves looking at potential ways to increase research collaboration among researchers within the Financial University, particularly among users of FinLab Wiki. Your responses will help us understand the actual usage of FinLab Wiki and investigate potential ways to improve it.

Mission Statement:

The goal of the project is to determine how to improve Financial University's knowledge and research management software so that the researchers at the Financial University's many campuses can collaborate on their research more <u>effectively</u> and <u>efficiently</u>.

Confidentiality:

Before we start this interview we want to make sure that you give us your permission to use any information you provide in our final report. We will keep your identity anonymous (if desired), and we can stop the interview at any time if you feel uncomfortable. You also do not have to answer any questions that would make you uncomfortable.

Conductors of Interview:

Dylan Baranik Justin Vitiello

Time, Date, and Location:

15:00-15:30, September 24, 2015, Bloomberg Lab, Financial University

Interviewee:

Name:	Relationship with FU:
Vladimir Soloviev	Director of IT

Interview Questions

- 1. As the head of Information Technology at Financial University, what do your duties include?
 - *Strategic development of information technology:*
 - Change infrastructure to meet expectations for current and future use
 - Develop network/services for user convenience
 - Allow home access to FU software
 - Constant learning environment for users
 - *Currently, the system in place is cheaper*
 - Bringing new technology to education and scientific process at FU:
 - Large focus on financial simulator creation
 - Transforming research processes:
 - Make things more automated
 - Inform society:
 - Development of new portals to inform society about research and education within FU
- 2. What software tools are provided by the University?
 - *Office 365*
 - Android/iPhone integration
 - Access to remote apps to use financial software
- 3. How is your user-base using the tools currently available to them?
 - (Skipped)
- 4. What are your opinions on using FinLab Wiki as the premiere collaboration tool for Financial University?
 - It was a large stepping stone but has limitations.
 - Limitations:
 - Slow
 - *Not fully customizable*
 - *FU needs to move forward to another tool.*
- 5. Which tools do you think Financial University should use for online research collaboration?
 - SharePoint
 - Would be better than FinLab Wiki
 - Already have Office 365 at FU

- Easier integration with existing systems; however, there is a lack of SharePoint Developers
- Alfresco
 - Content management system that uses Java programming
- 6. Do you know what incentives/rewards could be offered as part of this collaboration tool?
 - Grade students within the system:
 - *Provide the top 20% with rewards*
 - *Rewards should be dependent on faculty*
 - For Professors:
 - Ratings on system might affect earnings
- 7. Would it be possible to get your contact information as well as the contact information of other IT faculty members that could potentially answer our questions if we decide to follow-up?
 - Email given:
 - vsoloviev@fa.ru
Appendix N: Survey Protocol

Financial University under the Government of the Russian Federation

Questionnaire

Dear respondent,

We ask you to participate in a sociological survey about the integration of the students of the Financial University under the government of the Russian Federation in the international scientific life. We guarantee you the full confidentiality of your answers, which will subsequently be used only in conjunction with the answers of all other respondents.

<u>How to fill out the questionnaire</u>: carefully read the questions and circle the answer that best matches your point of view. If none of the options fit your point of view, please give your opinion on the following line.

Your answers will be used only for research purposes. If you are interested we will provide you with the results of the survey.

We appreciate your participation!

Moscow, 2015.

Demographic Information

1. YOUR SEX

- **a.** Male
- **b.** Female

2. WHAT IS YOUR ROLE AT FINANCIAL UNIVERSITY?

Student – bachelor	1st year	2nd year	3rd year	4th year		
Student – master	1st y	year	2nd year			
Postgraduate student	1st year	2nd year		3rd year		
Professor						
Scientist						

General questions

3. WHY IS IT IMPORTANT FOR YOU TO ENGAGE IN SCIENTIFIC ACTIVITY? (CIRCLE ALL THAT APPLY)

- A. It is necessary to have an understanding of science in this day and age
- B. These skills are necessary in the work environment
- C. To meet the requirements and demands of university, department, professors, etc.
- D. Personal desire
- E. I do not know
- F. Other (please, answer on the line provided)_____

4. HOW ACTIVELY DO YOU PARTICIPATE IN ACADEMIC RESEARCH (From 1 till 10, where 1 – min, 10 – max)

1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10
---	---	---	---	---	---	---	---	---	----

5. HOW OFTEN DO YOU USE SCIENTIFIC LITERATURE FROM THE INTERNET?

- A. Everyday
- B. Every 3 days
- C. Every Week
- D. Other (Please Specify):_____

7. IN WHICH FORMS ARE YOU READY TO PARTICIPATE IN SCIENTIFIC ACTIVITY? (CIRCLE ALL THAT APPLY)

- A. Publications in written texts/journals
- B. Publication in web-journals
- C. Research activity
- D. Presentations at conferences, discussions
- E. Activity to acquire grants
- F. Other (please, answer on the line provided)
- G. Nowhere

8. LIST THE REASONS FOR YOUR INTEREST IN SCIENTIFIC ACTIVITY. (CIRCLE ALL THAT APPLY)

- A. Self help
- B. Interest in learning/science
- C. A desire to improve the world
- D. An opportunity for work
- E. Other (please, answer on the line provided)
- F. I am still not ready to engage in scientific activity

9. HOW OFTEN DO YOU PUBLISH SCIENTIFIC WORK?

- A. Never
- B. Once a year
- C. Once a month
- D. Multiple times per month

E. Other:_____

10. WOULD YOU LIKE TO PUBLISH YOUR SCIENTIFIC WORK MORE OFTEN?

A. YES

- B. NO, I am not interested in publishing my work
- C. NO, currently I have enough publications

11. ARE YOU PLANNING TO CONTINUE YOUR SCIENTIFIC ACTIVITIES?

- A. YES
- B. NO
- C. I am undecided

12. Do you prefer to work with partners or alone? Why?

- A. Partners because
- B. Alone because
- C. No Preference

13. How do you find partners to work with?

- A. Assigned by professor
- **B.** Work with friends
- C. Using social media
- D. Recommended by friend or professor
- E. Other_

14. IN WHICH WEB-PLATFORM(S) DO YOU PUBLISH YOUR SCIENTIFIC WORK? (CIRCLE ALL THAT APPLY)

- A. E-library
- B. Lambert publisher
- C. Scopus
- D. Web of Science
- E. Social Science Research Network (SSRN)
- F. Gutenberg
- G. Other (please, answer on the line provided):
- H. I do not publish my scientific work in any platform

I. I did not know about the existence of these platforms

15. IF YOU DO NOT PUBLISH YOUR WORK ON WEB-PLATFORMS, IS THERE A PARTICULAR REASON WHY? (CIRCLE ALL THAT APPLY)

- A. I publish my work on web-platforms
- B. The need to translate academic work into a foreign language (for foreign web-platforms)
- C. Concerns about copyright infringement
- D. It takes too much time to publish
- E. The uncertainty in the quality of the scientific work performed
- F. It costs money to publish
- G. I do not know how to publish
- H. I do not have scientific work to publish
- I. Other (please, answer on the line provided)

Financial University under the government of the Russian Federation with Worcester Polytechnic Institute are creating a platform for the dissemination of scientific knowledge. A place where students and researchers can share their scientific work (articles, monographs, books), find colleagues with similar interests, be able to communicate with one another, and create joint projects. This platform should give an opportunity for students and researchers to collaborate with both domestic and foreign colleagues, to follow the news in their disciplines, to communicate directly with leading scientists, and to find resident and scientific leaders for collaboration.

16. DO YOU USE ANY OF THESE PLATFORMS? (CIRCLE ALL THAT APPLY)

- A. Academia.edu
- B. Finlabwiki.org
- C. Mendeley.com
- D. Researchgate.net
- E. Linkedin.com
- F. Facebook
- G. VKontakte
- H. Skype
- I. SSRN
- J. Gutenberg
- K. Microsoft SharePoint
- L. Google Docs
- M. Open Science Framework
- N. I know none of them

17. IN YOUR OPINION, WHAT CHARACTERISTICS AND POSSIBILITIES OF THE WEB-SITE REQUIRED FOR THIS PLATFORM? (FROM 1 TILL 5, WHERE 1- MIN, 5-MAX)

(PLEASE GIVE AN ANSWER TO EACH LINE)

Opportunity to communicate (chats)		4	3	2	1
Opportunity to freely publish scientific work		4	3	2	1
Opportunity to edit your work		4	3	2	1
Opportunity to review the works of other participants	5	4	3	2	1
Opportunity to create tags for publications	5	4	3	2	1
Opportunity to "subscribe" to the publications and disciplines you are interested	5	4	3	2	1
Opportunity to look for a co-author for joint research activity	5	4	3	2	1
Opportunity to find co-authors for joint projects	5	4	3	2	1
Opportunity to find a list of conferences and scientific events	5	4	3	2	1
Opportunity to share files with co-workers	5	4	3	2	1
Opportunity to have a personal profile	5	4	3	2	1
A timeline or progress bar of your work	5	4	3	2	1
Other (please, answer on the line provided)	5	4	3	2	1
	1	1	1	1	1

Thank you for participating in our survey!

Appendix O: Professor Charles Wallace Interview Protocol

Interviewee(s) Name:

Interviewer(s) Name(s):

Date:

- Introduce ourselves
- Say what is our project about
- *Confidentiality:*
 - Before we start this interview we will make sure that we have the permission to use any information you provided in our final proposal. We will keep the identity anonymous (if desired) and we can stop at any time during the interview if you feel uncomfortable during the interview or do not have an answer to the question. Also, if we already contacted you about recording this interview, we will confirm that again on the interview day.
- Mission Statement:
 - The goal of the project is to determine how to improve Financial University's knowledge and research management software, FinLab Wiki, so that the researchers at the Financial University's many campuses can collaborate on their research more effectively and efficiently.
- 1. What kind of collaboration work do you usually have among colleagues? What kind of people do you usually work with (i.e. researchers, programmers, etc.)?
- 2. How do you usually collaborate with these colleagues on your projects?
 - a. For Researchers, how do you usually collaborate with them on your research projects/papers/problems?
- 3. Are you currently using any kind of tools to collaborate with colleagues? If so, how are you using it?
- 4. What do you think is good about the current tools you are using?
- 5. What do you think could be improved about the current tools you are using?
- 6. What kind of features do you want to add to the tools you are using?
- 7. What kind of features do you want to avoid in a tools used for collaboration?

Appendix P: Professor Charles Wallace Interview Notes

Interviewee(s) Name: Prof. Charles Wallace

Interviewer(s) Name(s): Qiaoyu Liao, Nicholas Wong

Date: April 10, 2015

- Introduce ourselves
- Say what is our project about
- *Confidentiality:*
 - Before we start this interview we will make sure that we have obtained your permission to use any information you provide in our final proposal. We will keep your identity anonymous (if desired) and we can stop at any time during the interview if you feel uncomfortable during the interview. You do not have to answer any questions that would make you uncomfortable. Also, if we have already contacted you about recording this interview, we will confirm this again on the interview day.

We can use the information we gathered in this interview in our final proposal and Prof. Wallace is willing to be identified.

- Mission Statement:
 - The goal of the project is to determine how to improve Financial University's knowledge and research management software, FinLab Wiki, so that the researchers at the Financial University's many campuses can collaborate on their research more effectively and efficiently.
- 1. What kind of collaboration work do you usually have among colleagues? What kind of people do you usually work with (i.e. researchers, programmers, etc.)?
 - a. Projects that Prof. Wallace usually works in
 - *i.* Projects in Michigan Tech
 - *ii.* Projects with people from other countries
 - *iii.* Administrative projects
 - b. People Prof. Wallace usually works with
 - *i.* Students
 - ii. Graduate students
 - *iii.* Faculty members
 - iv. Administrators

- 2. How do you usually collaborate with these colleagues on your projects?
 - a. For Researchers, how do you usually collaborate with them on your research projects/papers/problems?
 - *i.* Using Google Docs:
 - 1. For the start of an idea, Google drive is usually used to share documents with ideas recorded on it
 - 2. Later on, those documents will be organized into folders
 - *ii.* Directly accepting a project from an administrator:
 - Immediately start working on the project using Canvas and Google Docs
 - iii. Using Canvas:
 - 1. Using repository features in Canvas, create a project that multiple people can work on
 - 2. Administrators can create assessments on the course using the repository
 - b. For Programmers, how do you usually collaborate with them on your programming projects?
 - i. Not many programmers are involved in his projects
- 3. Are you currently using any kind of tools to collaborate with colleagues? If so, how are you using it?
 - a. Google Docs
 - b. Canvas
 - c. Github (when coding is involved)
- 4. What do you think is good about the current tools you are using?
 - a. Google Docs:
 - *i.* Easy enough to share documents
 - *ii.* Able to store local copies

- b. Github:
 - *i.* Local copy storage
 - ii. Overall great functionality, especially version management
- c. Canvas:
 - *i.* Nothing really good about it; only useful feature is the repository feature
- 5. What do you think could be improved about the current tools you are using?
 - a. Google Drive:
 - *i.* Implement functionality that can tie the documents together
 - b. Canvas:
 - *i.* Improve the service response time
 - *ii.* User Interface is too complicated
 - *iii.* Some features are not useful
 - *iv.* Does not support local storage; when the website crashes down, no service will be available
- 6. What kind of features do you want to add to the tools you are using?
 - a. A nice and easy way to organize information
 - *i.* Keyword search function
 - *ii. Gather function that can automatically gather documents with same keyword together*
 - *iii.* Comments outside of the documents, similar to a tag for the documents
- 7. What kind of features do you want to avoid in a tools used for collaboration?
 - a. Anything unnecessary, such as Canvas' hw, tests, and teaching-related features.